



2012年2月 博士學位論文

Effects of Efonidipine and Aspirin on the

Pharmacokinetics and

Pharmacodynamics of Repaglinide in Rats

朝鮮大學校 大學院

藥學科

李 成

Effects of Efonidipine and Aspirin on the Pharmacokinetics and Pharmacodynamics of Repaglinide in Rats

흰쥐에서 에포니디핀과 아스피린이 레파그리니드의 약물동태학과 약물동력학에 미치는 영향

2012年2月24日

朝鮮大學校 大學院

藥學科

李 成

Effects of Efonidipine and Aspirin on the Pharmacokinetics and Pharmacodynamics of Repaglinide in Rats

指導教授 崔 俊 植

이 論文을 藥學博士學位申請 論文으로 提出함

2011年10月

朝鮮大學校 大學院

藥學科

李 成

李成의 博士學位論文을 認准함

| 委員 | 長 | 서울大學校 | 教授 | 鄭晳在 | 印 |
|----|---|-------|----|-----|---|
| 委 | 員 | 全南大學校 | 教授 | 李用福 | 印 |
| 委 | 員 | 朝鮮大學校 | 教授 | 崔厚均 | 印 |
| 委 | 員 | 朝鮮大學校 | 教授 | 兪振旭 | 印 |
| 委 | 員 | 朝鮮大學校 | 教授 | 崔俊植 | 印 |

2011年12月

朝鮮大學校 大學院

CONTENTS

| 국문초록 | vii |
|----------|-----|
| ABSTRACT | |

| I alt I. Effects of Elomorphie on the I har macokinetics | | | | | |
|---|--|--|--|--|--|
| and Pharmacodynamics of Repaglinide in Rats | | | | | |
| 국문초록1 | | | | | |
| 1. Introduction | | | | | |
| 2. Materials and Methods | | | | | |
| 2.1 Materials | | | | | |
| 2.2. Animal studies | | | | | |
| 2.3. Drug administration | | | | | |
| 2.4. HPLC assay | | | | | |
| 2.5. Determination of blood glucose concentrations | | | | | |
| 2.6. CYP inhibition assay | | | | | |
| 2.7. Rhodamine-123 retention assay10 | | | | | |
| 2.8. Pharmacokinetic analysis | | | | | |
| 2.9. Statistical analysis | | | | | |
| 3. Results12 | | | | | |
| 3.1. Chromatographic separation | | | | | |
| 3.2. Validation characteristics of analysis | | | | | |
| 3.3. CYP inhibition assay | | | | | |
| 3.4. Rhodamine-123 retention assay | | | | | |
| 3.5. Determination of blood glucose concentrations | | | | | |
| 3.6. Effect of efonidipine on the pharmacokinetics of oral repaglinide13 | | | | | |
| 3.7. Effect of efonidipine on the pharmacokinetics of intravenous repaglinide14 | | | | | |
| 4. Discussion16 | | | | | |
| 5. Conclusion20 | | | | | |
| References21 | | | | | |
| Abstract | | | | | |

Part I Effects of Efenidining on the Pharmacolyingtics

Part II. Effects of Aspirin on the Pharmacokinetics and Pharmacodynamics of Repaglinide in Rats

| 국문초록 | 41 |
|---|----|
| 1. Introduction | 43 |
| 2. Materials and Methods | 46 |
| 2.1. Materials | 46 |
| 2.2. Animal studies | 46 |
| 2.3. Drug administration. | 47 |
| 2.4. HPLC assay | 48 |
| 2.5. Determination of blood glucose concentrations | 49 |
| 2.6. CYP inhibition assay | 49 |
| 2.7. Rhodamine-123 retention assay | 50 |
| 2.8. Pharmacokinetic analysis | 50 |
| 2.9. Statistical analysis | 51 |
| 3. Results | 52 |
| 3.1. Chromatographic separation. | 52 |
| 3.2. Validation characteristics of analysis | 52 |
| 3.3. CYP inhibition assay | 52 |
| 3.4. Rhodamine-123 retention assay | 53 |
| 3.5. Determination of blood glucose concentrations | 53 |
| 3.6. Effect of aspirin on the pharmacokinetics of oral repaglinide | 53 |
| 3.7. Effect of aspirin on the pharmacokinetics of intravenous repaglinide | 54 |
| 4. Discussion | 56 |
| 5. Conclusion | 60 |
| References | 61 |
| Abstract | 76 |

LIST OF TABLES

- Table 2. Mean (\pm SD) pharmacokinetic parameters of repaglinide after the intravenous administration of repaglinide (0.2 mg/kg) to rats in the presence or absence of efonidipine (1.0 and 3.0 mg/kg) (n = 6, each) ...30

LIST OF FIGURES

| Figure 1. HPLC chromatograms of the rat blank plasma (A), the plasma spiked with |
|--|
| repaglinide (6.8 min), indomethacin (internal standard; 8.5 min) (B), and |
| the efonidipine in the rat plasma (C) |
| Figure 2. Typical calibration curve of repaglinide when spiked into the rat's blank |
| plasma |
| Figure 3. Inhibitory effects of ketoconazole and efonidipine on CYP enzyme |
| activity |
| Figure 4. Rhodamine-123 retention. MCF-7/ADR cells were preincubated with |
| efonidipine for 30 min after incubation of MCF-7/ADR cells with 20 μM |
| R-123 for 90 min |
| Figure 5. Mean blood glucose-time profiles in rats after oral (0.5 mg/kg) |
| administration of repaglinide in the presence or absence of efonidipine |
| (1.0 and 3.0 mg/kg) (n = 6, each) |
| Figure 6. Mean blood glucose-time profiles in rats after intravenous (0.2 mg/kg) |
| administration of repaglinide in the presence or absence of efonidipine |
| (1.0 and 3.0 mg/kg) (n = 6, each) |
| Figure 7. Mean plasma concentration-time profiles of repaglinide after oral (0.5 |
| mg/kg) administration of repaglinide to rats in the presence or absence of |
| efonidipine (1.0 and 3.0 mg/kg) ($n = 6$, each) |
| Figure 8. Mean plasma concentration-time profiles of repaglinide after intravenous |
| (0.2 mg/kg) administration of repaglinide to rats in the presence or |
| absence of efonidipine (1.0 and 3.0 mg/kg) ($n = 6$, each) |
| Figure 9. HPLC chromatograms of the rat blank plasma (A), the plasma spiked with |
| repaglinide (6.8 min), indomethacin (internal standard; 8.5 min) (B), and |
| the aspirin in the rat plasma (C)68 |
| Figure 10. Typical calibration curve of repaglinide when spiked into the rat's blank |

-v-

국문초록

흰쥐에서 에포니디핀과 아스피린이 레파그리니드의 약물동태학과 약물동력학에 미치는 영향

> 이 성 지 도 교 수: 최 준 식 약학과 조선대학교 대학원

임상에서 당뇨병 환자에게 합병증으로 초래될 수있는 순환기 질환 예방 및 치료를 위해서 에포니디핀 또는 아스피린과 레파그리니드의 병용투여가처방되는 경우가 많다. 특히, 항고혈압제인 에포니디핀과 항혈소판제인 아스피린은 소장 및 간장에서 초회통과효과[cytochrome P450 (CYP) 3A]를 억제시킬 가능성이 있으며 더 나아가서 약물 수송과 내성에 관여하는 P-당단백질[P-glycoprotein (P-gp)]을 억제시킬 가능성이 있다. 더구나, 레파그리니드는 CYP3A 와 P-gp 의 기질이기도 하다. 따라서, 이들의 상호작용을 규명하기 위하여 흰쥐에게 레파그리니드과 에포니디핀 또는 아스피린을 병용 경구투여한 후 레파그리니드의 약물동태와 약물동력학 변수들을 대조군과 비교 검토하였다.

흰쥐에서 에포니디핀 또는 아스피린과 레파그리니드을 병용 투여시 레파그리니드의 약물동태학적 변수는 유의성 있게 변화되었다. 대조군에 비해

-vii-

에포니디핀 (1.0 and 3.0 mg/kg) 또는 아스피린 (5.0 and 20.0 mg/kg)과 병용투여 후 레파그리니드의 혈장농도-시간곡선하면적 (*AUC*_{0-∞})과 최고혈중농도 (*C*_{max})는 각각 유의성있게 증가되었으며, 전신클리어런스 (*CL/F*)는 각각 유의성 있게 감소되었다. 절대 생체이용률은 대조군에 비해 각각 유의성 있게 증가되었으며 상대 생체이용률은 1.13-1.51 배 증가되었다. 그리고 에포니디핀 또는 아스피린은 레파그리니드의 혈당농도를 현저하게 저하 시켰다. 정맥투여군에서는 에포니디핀 또는 아스피린은 레파그리니드의 약동학적 변수에는 거의 영향을 주지 못하였다.

본 연구에서 에포니디핀 또는 아스피린을 각각 당뇨병치료제인 레파그리니드과 병용투여 하였을 때 경구투여된 레파그리니드의 생체이용률이 유의성 있게 증가된 것은 에포니디핀 및 아스피린에 의한 신배설 감소 보다는 주로 소장에 존재하는 P-gp 억제에 의한 흡수증가와 주로 소장과 간장에 존재하는 CYP3A 억제에 의한 레파그리니드의 CYP3A (대사) 감소와 *CL/F* 의 감소에 기인한 것으로 사료되었다.

본 연구결과 임상에서 심혈관질병이 있는 당뇨병환자에게 레파그리니드와 에포니디핀 또는 아스피린을 병용투여시 이들의 상호작용출현에 대해서 주시를 해야한다고 사료된다.

-viii-

Part I. Effects of Efonidipine on the Pharmacokinetics and Pharmacodynamics of Repaglinide in Rats

국문초록

항고혈압제인 에포니디핀와 레파그리니드의 병용투여가 당뇨병 환자에서 합병증으로 초래될수있는 순환기 질환 예방 및 치료를 위해서 처방되는 경우가 많다. 그러므로 이에 대한 상호작용을 알아보기 위하여 흰쥐에게 레파그리니드(경구; 0.5 mg/kg, 정매; 0.2 mg/kg)과 에포니디핀(1.0, 3.0 mg/kg)을 병용 경구투여한 후 레파그리니드의 약물동태와 약물동력학 변수들을 대조군과 비교 검토하였다.

횐쥐에서 에포니디핀과 레파그리니드을 병용 투여시 레파그리니드의 약물동태학적 변수는 유의성 있게 변화되었다. 대조군에 비해 에포니디핀(3.0 mg/kg)과 병용투여 후 레파그리니드의 혈장농도-시간곡선하면적 (*AUC*_{0-∞})과 최고혈중농도 (*C_{max}*)는 각각 50.8, 31.8%로 유의성 있게 증가되었으며, 반감기 (*t*_{1/2})과 전신클리어런스 (*CL/F*)는 유의성 있게 각각 변화되었다. 절대적 생체이용률은 대조군에 비해 각각 유의성 있게 증가되었으며 상대적 생체이용률은 1.17-1.51 배 증가되었다. 그리고 에포니디핀은 레파그리니드의 혈당농도는 현저하게 저하 시켰다. 정맥투여군에서는 에포니디핀은 레파그리니드의 약동학적 변수에는 거의 영향을 주지 못하였다.

본 연구에서 에포니디핀을 각각 당뇨병치료제인 레파그리니드과 병용투여

-1-

하였을 때 경구투여된 레파그리니드의 생체이용률이 유의성 있게 증가된 것은 에포니디핀에 의해서 신배설 감소 보다는 주로 소장에 존재하는 P-gp 억제에 의한 흡수증가와 주로 소장과 간장에 존재하는 CYP3A 억제에 의한 레파그리니드의 CYP3A (대사) 감소와 *CL/F*의 감소에 기인한 것으로 사료된다. 본 연구결과 임상에서 심혈관질병이 있는 당뇨병환자에게 레파그리니드와 에포니디핀을 병용투여시 이들의 상호작용출현에 대해서 주시를 해야한다고

사료된다.

1. Introduction

Type 2 diabetes, or non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus (NIDDM), is a heterogeneous disorder characterized by impaired insulin secretion and insulin resistance [1, 2]. Although basal insulin secretion may remain within the normal range, insulin resistance causes chronically elevated fasting glucose levels, while a delayed and blunted postprandial insulin release causes severe postprandial hyperglycemia [3].

Type 2 diabetes mellitus is a common disease with substantial associated morbidity and mortality [4, 5]. Most adverse diabetes outcomes are a result of vascular complications, both at a macrovascular level (coronary artery disease, cerebrovascular disease, or peripheral vascular disease) and a microvascular level (retinopathy, nephropathy, or neuropathy) [6]. Macrovascular complications are more common; up to 80% of patients with type 2 diabetes will develop or die of macrovascular disease [7-15], and the costs associated with macrovascular disease are an order of magnitude greater than those associated with microvascular disease [16].

Because diabetes is defined by blood glucose levels, much of the attention in diabetes care focuses on the management of hyperglycemia. This has been magnified by a causal link between hyperglycemia and microvascular outcomes [6, 17]. However, while some observational evidence suggests that the level of glycemia is a risk factor for macrovascular disease [18-21], experimental studies to date have not clearly shown a causal relationship between improved glycemic control and reductions in serious cardiovascular outcomes [6, 17]. Given these results and the epidemiologic characteristics of diabetes complications, it would seem more logical to focus diabetes care on prevention of macrovascular

complications rather than on glucose control and microvascular complications [22]. Indeed, the importance of preventing the macrovascular complications of type 2 diabetes has started to receive greater attention. In particular, several trials have examined the benefit of managing highly prevalent risk factors, such as hypertension [22]. Hypertension is extremely common in patients with type 2 diabetes, affecting up to 60% [5], and there are a growing number of pharmacologic treatment options.

Repaglinide $[(S)-(+)-2-ethoxy-4-(2-oxo-2-[(\alpha-isobuty1-2-piperidinobenzyl)]$ amino]ethyl) -benzoic acid, a carbamoylmethyl benzoic acid (CMBA) derivative] is a novel, fast-acting prandial oral hypoglycemic agent developed for the treatment of patients with type 2 diabetes whose disease can not be controlled by diet and exercise alone [23]. It can reduce the fasting glucose concentrations in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. It helps to control blood glucose by increasing the amount of insulin released by the pancreas [24]. Repaglinide stimulates the release of insulin from the pancreatic beta cells by binding to and closing ATP-dependent potassium channels. This depolarizes the plasma membrane, leading to the opening of voltage-dependent calcium channels. The influx of calcium ions, which increases intracellular Ca²⁺, triggers exocytosis of insulin [25].

Repaglinide is rapidly absorbed from the gastrointestinal tract after oral administration. It differs from other antidiabetic agents in its structure, binding profile, duration of action and mode of excretion [26]. Repaglinide is primarily metabolized via oxidative biotransformation involving the hepatic microsomal cytochrome P450 system, particularly CYP3A4 [27]. The metabolic pathway of repaglinide involves two major sites for the principal biotransformation: the piperidine ring and the aromatic carboxylic acid group [28]. Repaglinide has affinity for P-gp and it can significantly contribute to potential drug-drug interactions with other P-gp substrates or inhibitors [29]. Kajosaari et al. [30] reported that co-administration of repaglinide with the known P-gp inhibitor cyclosporine A could significantly increase the plasma concentrations of repaglinide in humans.

Efonidipine is a novel dihydropyridine calcium antagonist and is a powerful vasodilator with considerably less negative inotropic action than any other dihydropyridine derivative [31, 32]; its antihypertensive action is both very slow in onset and long-lasting [33]. Previous studies have shown that, in contrast to other dihydropyridines, efonidipine decreases the heart rate in patients with essential hypertension [34, 35]. In general, 1,4-dihydropyridine calcium antagonists are inhibitors of CYP3A isoforms; however, there is few report about CYP enzyme and P-gp activity for efonidipine. Therefore, we evaluated the inhibition of CYP enzyme activity and P-gp activity by efonidipine using CYP inhibition assays and rhodamine-123 retention assays in P-gp-overexpressing MCF-7/ADR cells.

Hypertension can be induced by the complications of diabetes, and repaglinide and efonidipine can be clinically prescribed for treatment of cardiovascular disease as a complication of diabetes. However, pharmacokinetic interaction between repaglinide and efonidipine has not been reported. Therefore, the present study aims to investigate the effect of efonidipine on CYP enzyme activity, P-gp activity and the pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of repaglinide after oral and intravenous administration in rats.

2. Materials and Methods

2.1 Materials

Repaglinide and indomethacin (internal standard) were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich Co. (St. Louis, MO, USA). Efonidipine was purchased from Greencross Co. (Yongin, Gyungi, Korea). HPLC-grade methanol and acetonitrile were acquired from Merck Co. (Darmstadt, Germany). All other chemicals for this study were of reagent grade and were used without further purification. Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium was from Hyclone Laboratories (Logan, UT, USA), Hank's balanced salt solution was from Invitrogen (Grand Island, NY, USA), fetal bovine serum was from PAA Laboratories (Etobiroke, Ontario, Canada), rhodamine was from Calbiochem, (San Diego, CA, USA) and the CYP inhibition assay kit was from GENTEST (Woburn, MA, USA).

Apparatuses used in this study included an HPLC equipped with a Waters 1515 isocratic HPLC Pump, a Waters 717 plus auto sampler and a WatersTM 2487 scanning UV detector (Waters Co., Milford, MA, USA), an HPLC column temperature controller (Phenomenex Co., CA, USA), a Bransonic[®] Ultrasonic Cleaner (Branson Ultrasonic Co., Danbury, CT, USA), a vortex-mixer (Scientific Industries Inc., NY, USA), a high-speed microcentrifuge (Hitachi Co., Tokyo, Japan), and the Onetouch[®] UltraTM Blood Glucose Monitoring System (LifeScan Inc., CA, USA).

2.2 Animal studies

Male Sprague-Dawley rats (weighing 270-300 g) were purchased from the Dae Han Laboratory Animal Research Co. (Choongbuk, Korea) and were given access to a commercial rat chow diet (No. 322-7-1, Superfeed Co., Gangwon, Korea) and tap water. The animals were housed, two per cage, and maintained at 22 ± 2 °C and 50–60% relative humidity under a 12: 12 h light:dark cycle. The experiments were initiated after acclimation under these conditions for at least 1 week. The Animal Care Committee of Chosun University (Gwangju, Korea) approved the design and the conduct of this study. The rats were fasted for at least 24 h prior to the experiments and each animal was anaesthetized lightly with ether. The left femoral artery and vein were cannulated using polyethylene tubing (SP45, i.d. 0.58 mm, o.d. 0.96 mm; Natsume Seisakusho Co. LTD., Tokyo, Japan) for blood sampling and i.v. injection, respectively.

2.3 Drug administration

The rats were divided into six groups (n = 6, each): an oral control group (0.5 mg/kg of repaglinide dissolved in distilled water, 1.0 ml/kg) without or with 1.0 and 3.0 mg/kg of efonidipine (mixed in distilled water, 1.0 ml/kg), and an i.v. control group (0.2 mg/kg of repaglinide, dissolved in 0.9% NaCl solution, 1.5 ml/kg) without or with 1.0 and 3.0 mg/kg of efonidipine (mixed in distilled water, 1.0 ml/kg). Oral repaglinide was administered intragastrically using an injector equipped with a long blunt needle (feeding tube), and efonidipine was administered in the same manner 30 min prior to the oral administration of repaglinide. Repaglinide for i.v. administration was injected through the femoral vein within 0.5 min. A 0.4-ml aliquot of blood was collected into heparinized tubes from the femoral artery at 0.25, 0.5, 0.75, 1, 2, 4, 6, and 10 h after repaglinide oral administration and at 0 (to serve as control), 0.1, 0.25, 0.5, 1, 2, 6, and 10h after repaglinide i.v. administration. The blood samples were centrifuged at 13000 rpm for 3 min, and the plasma samples were

stored at -40 °C until HPLC analysis. Approximately 1.0 ml of whole blood collected from untreated rats was infused via the femoral artery at 0.75, 2 and 6 h to replace the blood lost due to blood sampling.

2.4 HPLC assay

The plasma concentration of repaglinide was determined by HPLC as reported by Ruzilawati et al. [36] with a slight modification. Briefly, a 50-µl aliquot of 1 µg/ml indomethacin, as an internal standard, and a 0.2-ml aliquot of 0.1 mol/l potassium dihydrogen orthophosphate (KH₂PO₄, pH 5.9) were mixed with a 0.2-ml aliquot of the plasma sample. After the mixture was vortexed, 1 ml of ethylacetate, 50 µl of isoamylalcohol and 35 µl of 1.0 M NaOH were added. The resulting mixture was then vortex-mixed for 10 min and centrifuged at 9000 rpm for 10 min. After centrifugation, the ethylacetate phase was transferred to a clean test tube and evaporated under a gentle stream of nitrogen gas at 45°C. The dried extract was reconstituted with 150 μ l of mobile phase, vortex-mixed and transferred to a clean autosampler vial. A 70-µl aliquot of the supernatant was injected into the HPLC system. Chromatographic separation was achieved using a µBondapakTM C₁₈ column (3.9×300 mm i.d., 10 µm, Waters Co.) attached to a μBondapakTM C18 guard column (3.9×20 mm i.d., 10 μm, Waters Co.). The mobile phase consisted of acetonitrile: 0.01 M ammonium formate (pH 2.7, adjusted with phosphoric acid) (56: 44, v/v). The flow-rate of the mobile phase was maintained at 1.0 ml/min. Chromatography was performed at 25 °C and regulated by an HPLC column temperature controller. The UV detector was operated at a wavelength of 244 nm. Plasma calibration curves were prepared and assayed in triplicate on three different days to evaluate linearity,

precision, accuracy, recovery, limit of quantitation (LOQ), limit of detection (LOD), selectivity and stability.

2.5 Determination of blood glucose concentrations

Blood samples were collected at 0, 1, 3, 6, and 10 h after oral and intravenous repaglinide administration. Blood glucose concentrations were measured immediately using the Onetouch[®] UltraTM Blood Glucose Monitoring System and the glucose assay kit from BioAssay Systems (QuantiChromTM Glucose Assay Kit) as described by Yoon and Mekalanos [37].

2.6 CYP inhibition assay

The inhibition assays of human CYP3A4 enzyme activity were performed in a multiwell plate using the CYP inhibition assay kit (GENTEST, Woburn, MA) as described previously [38]. Briefly, human CYP enzymes were obtained from baculovirus-infected insect cells. CYP substrate [7-Benzyloxy-4-(trifluoromethyl) couamrin, 7-BFC for CYP3A4] was incubated (2 µM of both CYP isoforms and 50 mM of 7-BFC were used in the incubation mixture as described in the manual of CYP inhibition assay kit) with or without efonidipine in enzyme/substrate buffer consisting of 1 pmol of P450 enzyme and a NADPH generating system (1.3 mM NADP, 3.54 mM glucose 6-phosphate, 0.4 U/ml glucose 6-phosphate dehydrogenase and 3.3 mM MgCl₂) in potassium phosphate buffer (pH 7.4). Reactions were measured by adding stop solution after 45-min incubation. Metabolite concentrations were measured by spectrofluorometer (Molecular Devices, Sunnyvale, CA) at an excitation wavelength of 409 nm and an emission wavelength of 530 nm. A positive control (1 µM

ketoconazole) was run on the same plate and produced 99% inhibition. All experiments were performed in duplicate, and results are expressed as the percent of inhibition.

2.7 Rhodamine-123 retention assay

The procedures used for the Rho-123 retention assay were similar to a previously reported method [39]. The P-gp overexpressed multidrug resistant human breast carcinoma cell line (MCF-7/ADR cells) were seeded in 24-well plates at a seeding density of 10^5 cells and preincubated with efonidipine and verapamil for 30 min. At 80% confluency, the cells were incubated in fetal bovine serum free Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium for 18 h. The culture medium was changed to Hanks' balanced salt solution and the cells were incubated at 37°C for 30 min. After incubation of the cells with 20 μ M rhodamine-123 in the presence or absence of efonidipine (1, 3 and 10 μ M) for 90 min, the medium was completely removed. The cells were then washed three times with ice-cold phosphate buffer (pH 7.0) and lysed in lysis buffer. Rhodamine-123 fluorescence in the cell lysates was measured using excitation and emission wavelengths of 480 and 540 nm, respectively. Fluorescence values were normalized to the total protein content of each sample and are presented as the ratio to control.

2.8 Pharmacokinetic analysis

The plasma concentration data were analyzed by the non-compartmental method using Thermo Kinetica Software Version 5.0 (Thermo Fisher Scientific Inc., Miami, OK, USA). The elimination rate constant (K_{el}) was calculated by log-linear regression of repaglinide concentration during the elimination phase. The terminal half-life ($t_{1/2}$) was calculated by $0.693/K_{el}$. The peak plasma concentration (C_{max}) and time to reach peak plasma concentration (T_{max}) of repaglinide in plasma were obtained by visual inspection of the data from the concentration-time curve. The area under the plasma concentration-time curve from 0 h to the time (AUC_{0-t}) of last measured concentration (C_{last}) was calculated by the linear trapezoidal rule. The AUC from zero to infinity $(AUC_{0-\infty})$ was obtained by the addition of AUC_{0-t} and the extrapolated area determined by C_{last}/K_{el} . The mean residence time (MRT) was calculated by dividing the first moment of AUC $(AUMC_{0-\infty})$ by $AUC_{0-\infty}$. The apparent volume of distribution at steady state (Vd_{ss}) was estimated by the product of MRT_{i,v} and CL_t after i.v. dosing. Total body clearance (CL/F) was calculated by:

$$CL/F = \frac{Dose}{AUC}$$

The absolute bioavailability (A.B.) was calculated by:

$$AB\% = \frac{AUC_{oral}}{AUC_{i.v.}} \times \frac{Dose_{i.v.}}{Dose_{oral}} \times 100\%$$

The relative bioavailability (R.B.) was calculated by:

$$RB\% = \frac{AUC_{with \ efonidipine}}{AUC_{control}} \times 100\%$$

2.9 Statistical analysis

Statistical analysis was conducted using one-way ANOVA followed by a posteriori testing with the Dunnett correction. Differences were considered significant at P < 0.05. All mean values are presented with their standard deviation (Mean ± SD).

3. Results

3.1 Chromatographic separation

Figure 1 illustrates chromatograms of the blank rat plasma samples (A) and the rat plasma spiked with repaglinide, indomethacin (internal standard, IS) (B), and efonidipine (C). The retention times of repaglinide and indomethacin (IS) were 6.8 and 8.5 min, respectively. The overall run time lasted 10 min. Efonidipine did not interfere with the detection of repaglinide and indomethacin (IS) in this method.

3.2 Validation characteristics of analysis

Figure 2 shows the calibration curve of repaglinide constructed by plotting the ratio of the peak area of repaglinide to that of indomethacin as a function of the plasma repaglinide concentrations (50, 100, 200, 500, 1000, 2000 and 5000 ng/ml). There was excellent linearity over the range of 50–5000 ng/ml with a mean correlation coefficient of 0.999. The typical equation describing the calibration curve in rat plasma was y = 0.0031 x -0.0052, where y is the peak area ratio of repaglinide to indomethacin and x is the concentration of repaglinide. The recovery of repaglinide in rat plasma was 102.2%. The LOD and LOQ for repaglinide in rat plasma were 20 ng/ml. The intra- and inter-day coefficients of variation for repaglinide were below 12.1 and 11.5%, respectively.

3.3 CYP inhibition assay

The inhibitory effect of ketoconazole and efonidipine on CYP3A4 enzyme activity is

shown in Figure 3. Ketoconazole and efonidipine inhibited CYP3A4 enzyme activity in a concentration-dependent manner. Ketoconazole and efonidipine strongly inhibited CYP3A4 enzyme with IC_{50} values of 0.03 and 0.08 μ M.

3.4 Rhodamine-123 retention assay

As shown in Figure 4, accumulation of rhodamine-123, a P-gp substrate, was raised in MCF-7/ADR cells overexpressing P-gp compared to that in MCF-7 cells lacking P-gp. The concurrent use of efonidipine enhanced the cellular uptake of rhodamine-123 in a concentration-dependent manner and the uptake was significantly (P < 0.01) increased at concentrations ranging from 1 to 10 μ M. This result suggests that efonidipine significantly inhibits P-gp activity.

3.5 Determination of blood glucose concentrations

Repaglinide pharmacodynamics was characterized by determining blood glucose levels. Mean blood glucose–time profiles in rats after oral (0.5 mg/kg) and intravenous (0.2 mg/kg) administration of repaglinide in the presence or absence of efonidipine (1.0 and 3.0 mg/kg) (n = 6, each) are shown in Figure 5 and 6. Compared to the control group, efonidipine significantly decreased the blood glucose levels after oral administration of repaglinide, revealing a significant hypoglycemic effect (Figure 5); however, there was no significant difference after intravenous administration of repaglinide (Figure 6).

3.6 Effect of efonidipine on the pharmacokinetics of oral repaglinide

Mean arterial plasma concentration-time profiles of repaglinide following oral

administration of repaglinide (0.5 mg/kg) to rats in the presence or absence of efonidipine (1.0 and 3.0 mg/kg) are shown in Figure 7; the corresponding pharmacokinetic parameters are shown in Table 1. Efonidipine significantly altered the pharmacokinetic parameters of repaglinide. Compared to the control group (given oral repaglinide alone), efonidipine significantly increased the area under the plasma concentration-time curve ($AUC_{0-\infty}$, P <0.01 at 3.0 mg/kg) and the peak plasma concentration (C_{max} , P < 0.05 at 3.0 mg/kg) of repaglinide by 50.8% and 31.8%, respectively. The terminal half-life ($t_{1/2}$) was significantly increased (3.0 mg/kg, P < 0.05) and the total body clearance (CL/F) was significantly decreased (3.0 mg/kg, P < 0.01) by efonidipine. Efonidipine also increased the absolute bioavailability (A.B.) of repaglinide by 50.6% (3.0 mg/kg, P < 0.01) compared to the oral control group (32.2%), and the relative bioavailability (R.B.) of repaglinide by 1.17- to 1.51-fold. There was no significant difference in the time to reach peak plasma concentration (T_{max}) of repaglinide in the presence of efonidipine.

3.7 Effect of efonidipine on the pharmacokinetics of intravenous repaglinide

Mean plasma concentration-time profiles of repaglinide after the intravenous administration of repaglinide (0.2 mg/kg) to rats in the presence or absence of efonidipine (1.0 and 3.0 mg/kg) are shown in Figure 8; the correlated pharmacokinetic parameters are shown in Table 2. Compared to the control group, efonidipine (3.0 mg/kg) significantly (P < 0.05) increased the $AUC_{0-\infty}$ (31.8%) of repaglinide. The CL_t and Vd_{ss} values of repaglinide tended to decrease, but this trend was not statistically significant. The $t_{1/2}$ of repaglinide was also increased, but this increase was not significant.

Accordingly, while there was no significant change in the intravenous pharmacokinetics

of repaglinide, the enhanced oral bioavailability in the presence of efonidipine could be mainly due to inhibition of P-gp in the small intestine and to inhibition of CYP3A isoforms in the small intestine and/or liver by efonidipine rather than to reduction of renal elimination of repaglinide.

4. Discussion

The cytochrome P450 superfamily is a large and diverse group of enzymes. Most CYP enzymes function to catalyze the oxidation of organic substances. The substrates of CYP enzymes include metabolic intermediates such as lipids and steroidal hormones, as well as xenobiotic substances such as drugs and other toxic chemicals. CYPs are the major enzymes involved in drug metabolism and bioactivation, accounting for about 75% of the total number of different metabolic reactions [40].

Many drugs may increase or decrease the activity of various CYP isozymes either by inducing the biosynthesis of an isozyme (enzyme induction) or by directly inhibiting the activity of the CYP (enzyme inhibition). This is a major source of adverse drug interactions, since changes in CYP enzyme activity may affect the metabolism and clearance of various drugs. For example, if one drug inhibits the CYP-mediated metabolism of another drug, the second drug may accumulate within the body to toxic levels. Hence, these drug interactions may necessitate dosage adjustments or the use of drugs that do not interact with the CYP system. Such drug interactions are especially important to take into account when using drugs of vital importance to the patient, drugs with important side-effects and drugs with small therapeutic windows, but any drug may be subject to an altered plasma concentration due to altered drug metabolism.

One of the principal cytochrome P450 isoforms involved in repaglinide metabolism in human liver microsomes is CYP3A4. CYP3A4 is the most abundant isoform of cytochrome P450 in the human liver [41] and is responsible for the metabolism of many different drugs [42]. Levels of CYP3A4 vary substantially between individuals; these variations may be related to induction of the isoform by various drugs and may partially account for the observed inter-individual variations in repaglinide metabolism [43].

P-glycoprotein is a well-characterized ATP-binding cassette (ABC)-transporter (which transports a wide variety of substrates across extra- and intra-cellular membranes) of the multi-drug resistance (MDR) subfamily [44]. P-gp is extensively distributed and expressed in the intestinal epithelium, hepatocytes, renal proximal tubular cells, adrenal gland and capillary endothelial cells comprising the blood-brain and blood-testis barrier. In addition, P-gp is an ATP-dependent drug efflux pump for xenobiotic compounds and has broad substrate specificity.

P-gp is expressed with CYP3A isoforms and glutathione-S-transferase [45, 46], which may have synergistic functions in regulating the bioavailability of many orally ingested compounds. In the small intestine, P-gp is co-localized with CYP3A isoforms at the apical membrane of the cells [47]. P-gp and CYP3A isoforms might act synergistically to limit oral absorption and first-pass metabolism [48]. Poor solubility and first-pass metabolism in the liver and epithelial cells of the small intestine result in low bioavailability of repaglinide (56%) [29]. Considering that repaglinide is a substrate of both CYP3A and P-gp [27, 29], CYP3A and P-gp inhibitors might alter the bioavailability and pharmacokinetics of repaglinide. The inhibitory effect of efonidipine against CYP3A isoforms.

As shown in Figure 3, efonidipine inhibited CYP3A4 enzyme activity with an IC₅₀ value of 0.08 μ M. Furthermore, the cell-based assay using rhodamine-123 indicated that efonidipine (1-10 μ M) significantly (P < 0.01) inhibited P-gp-mediated drug efflux (Figure 4). Therefore, the pharmacokinetic characteristics of repaglinide were evaluated in the

absence and presence of efonidipine in rats. As CYP3A9 in rat is the ortholog of CYP3A4 in human [49], rat CYP3A2 is also similar to human CYP3A4 [50, 51]. Human 3A4 and rat 3A1 have 73% protein homology [52]. Rats were therefore selected as an animal model in this study to evaluate the potential pharmacokinetic interactions mediated by CYP3A4, although there are almost certainly some differences in enzyme activity between rat and human [53]. Nevertheless, efonidipine might increase absorption of repaglinide in the intestine through the inhibition of P-gp and CYP3A isoforms.

In this study, efonidipine significantly decreased blood glucose levels compared to the oral control group and increased the $AUC_{0-\infty}$ by 50.8% and the R.B. of repaglinide by 1.17to 1.51-fold. Because efonidipine considerably increased the C_{max} and $t_{1/2}$ of repaglinide, it seems that efonidipine inhibited the CYP3A isoforms-mediated metabolism of repaglinide mainly during first-pass metabolism. CYP3A isoforms are present in considerable quantities in the small-intestinal mucosa [54, 55], and the intestinal CYP3A isoforms have been shown to play a major role in drug interactions with CYP3A inhibitors. These results are consistent with a report by Niemi et al. [56] showing that clarithromycin, a CYP3A4 inhibitor, significantly increased the $AUC_{0-\infty}$ and C_{max} of repaglinide and enhanced the repaglinide blood glucose-lowering effect, despite the fact that no statistically significant differences were found in the blood concentrations between control group and clarithromycin. Niemi et al. [57] reported that gemfibrozil significantly increased the $AUC_{\theta-\infty}$ of repaglinide 8.1-fold and enhanced the blood glucose-lowering effect of repaglinide, while Kajosaari et al. [30] also reported that co-administration of repaglinide with the known P-gp inhibitor cyclosporine A significantly increased the plasma concentration of repaglinide in humans. These results are consistent with our study.

After intravenous administration of repaglinide with efonidipine, the $AUC_{0-\infty}$ of repaglinide was significantly increased (P < 0.05) by efonidipine. The CL_t value of repaglinide tended to decrease, but was not statistically significant. This suggests that the effects of oral efonidipine on the inhibition of hepatic metabolism of repaglinide via CYP3A isoforms were almost negligible. In contrast to those of oral repaglinide, the pharmacokinetics of intravenous repaglinide were not affected by concurrent use of efonidipine. Accordingly, while there was no significant change in the pharmacokinetics of intravenous repaglinide, the enhanced oral bioavailability may be mainly due to increased intestinal absorption via P-gp inhibition by efonidipine rather than to reduced hepatic and renal elimination of repaglinide.

5. Conclusion

Efonidipine enhanced the bioavailability of oral repaglinide in this study. The enhanced bioavailability of repaglinide might be mainly due to inhibition of the CYP3A isoformsmediated metabolism of repaglinide in the small intestine and/or liver and the inhibition of the P-gp efflux pump in the small intestine and reduction of total body clearance of repaglinide by efonidipine.

Since the present study has raised the awareness of potential drug interactions by concomitant use of efonidipine with repaglinide, the clinical significance of this finding needs to be further evaluated in clinical studies. Based on the results, if the drug interactions are confirmed in diabetes patients with cardiovascular diseases, the dosage of repaglinide should be adjusted and blood glucose concentrations should be carefully monitored when repaglinide is used concomitantly with efonidipine.

References

- Polonsky KS, Sturis J, Bell GI (1996) Non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus -a genetically programmed failure of the beta cell to compensate for insulin resistance. N Engl J Med 334:777–783.
- Sacks DB, McDonald JM (1996) The pathogenesis of the type 2 diabetes mellitus: a polygenic disease. Am J Clin Pathol 105:149–156.
- 3. Polonsky KS, Given BD, Hirsch LJ, Tillil H, Shapiro ET, Beebe C, Frank BH, Galloway JA, Van Cauter E (1988) Abnormal patterns of insulin secretion in noninsulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. N Engl J Med 318:1231–1239.
- 4. Harris MI, Flegal KM, Cowie CC, Eberhardt MS, Goldstein DE, Little RR, Wiedmeyer HM, Byrd-Holt DD (1998) Prevalence of diabetes, impaired fasting glucose, and impaired glucose tolerance in U.S. adults. The Third National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey, 1988-1994. Diabetes Care 21:518–524.
- 5. Diabetes in America (1995) 2nd ed. Bethesda, MD: National Institutes of Health, National Institute of Diabetes and Digestive and Kidney Diseases.
- 6. UK Prospective Diabetes Study (UKPDS) Group (1998) Intensive blood-glucose control with sulphonylureas or insulin compared with conventional treatment and risk of complications in patients with type 2 diabetes (UKPDS 33). Lancet 352:837–853.
- Harris MI (1990) Epidemiology of diabetes mellitus among the elderly in the United States. Clin Geriatr Med 6:703–719.
- 8. Meigs JB, Singer DE, Sullivan LM, Dukes KA, D'Agostino RB, Nathan DM, Wagner EH, Kaplan SH, Greenfield S (1997) Metabolic control and prevalent cardiovascular

disease in non-insulindependent diabetes mellitus (NIDDM): The NIDDM Patient Outcome Research Team. Am J Med 102:38–47.

- 9. Morrish NJ, Stevens LK, Fuller JH, Keen H, Jarrett RJ (1991) Incidence of macrovascular disease in diabetes mellitus: the London cohort of the WHO Multinational Study of Vascular Disease in Diabetics. Diabetologia 34:584–589.
- 10.Wingard DL, Barrett-Connor EL, Scheidt-Nave C, McPhillips JB (1993) Prevalence of cardiovascular and renal complications in older adults with normal or impaired glucose tolerance or NIDDM. A population-based study. Diabetes Care 16:1022–1025.
- 11.de Grauw WJ, van de Lisdonk EH, van den Hoogen HJ, van Weel C (1995) Cardiovascular morbidity and mortality in type 2 diabetic patients: a 22-year historical cohort study in Dutch general practice. Diabet Med 12:117–122.
- 12.Garcia MJ, McNamara PM, Gordon T, Kannel WB (1974) Morbidity and mortality in diabetics in the Framingham population. Sixteen year follow-up study. Diabetes 23:105–111.
- Kannel WB, McGee DL (1979) Diabetes and cardiovascular disease. The Framingham study. JAMA 241:2035–2038.
- 14.Kleinman JC, Donahue RP, Harris MI, Finucane FF, Madans JH, Brock DB (1988)Mortality among diabetics in a national sample. Am J Epidemiol 128: 389–401.
- 15.Kro'lewski AS, Czyzyk A, Janeczko D, Kopczyn'ski J (1977) Mortality from cardiovascular diseases among diabetics. Diabetologia 13:345–350.
- 16.American Diabetes Association (1998) Economic consequences of diabetes mellitus in the U.S. in 1997. Diabetes Care 21:296–309.
- 17. The Diabetes Control and Complications Trial Research Group (1993) The effect of

intensive treatment of diabetes on the development and progression of long-term complications in insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. N Engl J Med 329:977–986.

- Andersson DK, Sva^{*}rdsudd K (1995) Long-term glycemic control relates to mortality in type II diabetes. Diabetes Care 18:1534–1543.
- 19.Laakso M (1996) Glycemic control and the risk for coronary heart disease in patients with non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. The Finnish studies. Ann Intern Med 124:127–130.
- 20.Lehto S, Ro'nnemaa T, Haffner SM, Pyo'ra'la' K, Kallio V, Laakso M (1997) Dyslipidemia and hyperglycemia predict coronary heart disease events in middleaged patients with NIDDM. Diabetes 46:1354–1359.
- 21.Lehto S, Ro"nnemaa T, Pyo"ra"la" K, Laakso M (1996) Predictors of stroke in middleaged patients with non-insulin-dependent diabetes. Stroke 27:63–68.
- 22.Vijan S, Hayward RA (2003) Treatment of hypertension in type 2 diabetes mellitus: blood pressure goals, choice of agents, and setting priorities in diabetes care. Ann Intern Med 138:593–602.
- 23.Hatorp V (2002) Clinical pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of repaglinide. Clin Pharmacokinet 41:471–483.
- 24.Gromada J, Dissing S, Kofod H, Frokjaer-Jensen J (1995) Effects of the hypoglycaemic drugs repaglinide and glibenclamide on ATP-sensitive potassium-channels and cytosolic 113 calcium levels in beta TC3 cells and rat pancreatic beta cells. Diabetologia 38:1025–1032.
- 25.Ruzilawati AB, Wahab MS, Imran A, Ismail Z, Gan SH (2007) Method development and validation of repaglinide in human plasma by HPLC and its application in
pharmacokinetic studies. J Pharm Biomed Anal 43:1831–1835.

- 26.Culy CR, Jarvis B (2001) Repaglinide: a review of its therapeutic use in type 2 diabetes mellitus. Drugs 61:1625–1660.
- 27.Bidstrup TB, Bjørnsdottir I, Sidelmann UG, Thomsen MS, Hansen KT (2003) CYP2C8 and CYP3A4 are the principal enzymes involved in the human in vitro biotransformation of the insulin secretagogue repaglinide. Br J Clin Pharmacol 56:305– 314.
- 28.Bauer E, Beschke K, Ebner T, Greischel A (1997) Biotransformation of [14C] repaglinide in human, cynomolgus monkey, dog, rabbit, rat and mouse. Diabetologia 40 Suppl. 1:326–332.
- 29.Chang C, Bahadduri PM, Polli JE, Swaan PW, Ekins S (2006) Rapid identification of P-glycoprotein substrates and inhibitors. Drug Metab Dispos 34:1976–1984.
- 30.Kajosaari LI, Niemi M, Neuvonen M, Laitila J, Neuvonen PJ, Backman JT (2005) Cyclosporine markedly raises the plasma concentrations of repaglinide. Clin Pharmacol Ther 78:388–399.
- 31.Nakabeppu H, Asada M, Oda T, Shinozaki Y, Yajima T (1996) Plasma and urinary metabolites of efonidipine hydrochloride in man. Xenobiotica 26:229–239.
- 32.Masuda Y, Takeguchi M, Arakawa C, Sakai T, Hibi M, Tanaka S, Shigenobu K, Kasuya Y (1990) Antihypertensive and diuretic effects of NZ-105, a novel dihydropyridine derivative. Arch Int Pharmacodyn Ther 304:247–264.
- 33. Tamura T, Saigusa A, Kokubun S (1991) Mechanisms underlying the slow onset of action of a new dihydropyridine, NZ-105, on a cultured smooth muscle cell line. Naunyn Schmiedebergs Arch Pharmacol 343:405–410.

- 34. Tanaka T, Tsutamoto T, Sakai H, Fujii M, Yamamoto T, Horie M (2007) Comparison of the effects of efonidipine and amlodipine on aldosterone in patients with hypertension. Hypertens Res 30:691–697.
- 35.Shimizu M, Ogawa K, Sasaki H, Uehara Y, Otsuka Y, Okumura H, Kusaka M, Hasuda T, Yamada T, Mochizuki S (2003) Effects of efonidipine, an L- and T-Type dual calcium channel blocker, on heart rate and blood pressure in patients with mild to severe hypertension: an uncontrolled, open-label pilot study. Current Ther Res 64:707– 714.
- 36.Ruzilawati AB, Wahab MS, Imran A, Ismail Z, Gan SH (2007) Method development and validation of repaglinide in human plasma by HPLC and its application in pharmacokinetic studies. J Pharm Biomed Anal 43:1831–1835.
- 37.Yoon SS, Mekalanos JJ (2006) 2,3-butanediol synthesis and the emergence of the Vibrio cholerae El Tor biotype. Infect Immun 74:6547–6556.
- 38.Crespi CL, Miller VP, Penman BW (1997) Microtiter plate assays for inhibition of human, drug-metabolizing cytochromes P450. Anal Biochem 248:188–190.
- 39.Han CY, Cho KB, Choi HS, Han HK, Kang KW (2008) Role of FoxO1 activation in MDR1 expression in adriamycin-resistant breast cancer cells. Carcinogenesis 29:1837– 1844.
- 40.Guengerich FP (2008) Cytochrome p450 and chemical toxicology. Chem Res Toxicol 21:70–83.
- 41.Gonzalez FJ (1993) Cytochrome P450 in humans. In: Schenkman JB, Grein H, editors. Cytochrome P450: handbook of experimental pharmacology Vol. 105. Berlin: Springer-Verlag.

- 42.Li AP, Kaminski DL, Rasmussen A (1995) Substrates of human hepatic cytochrome P450 3A4. Toxicology 104:1–8.
- 43. Wrighton SA, Stevens JC (1992) The human hepatic cytochromes P450 involved in drug metabolism. Crit Rev Toxicol 22:1–21.
- 44.Dean M (2002) The Human ATP-Binding Cassette (ABC) Transporter Superfamily. Bethesda, MD: National Center for Biotechnology Information.
- 45.Sutherland L, Ebner T, Burchell B (1993) The expression of UDPglucuronosyltransferases of the UGT1 family in human liver and kidney and in response to drugs. Biochem Pharmacol 45:295–301.
- 46.Turgeon D, Carrier JS, Lévesque E, Hum DW, Bélanger A (2001) Relative enzymatic activity, protein stability, and tissue distribution of human steroid-metabolizing UGT2B subfamily members. Endocrinology 142:778–787.
- 47.Watkins PB (1996) The barrier function of CYP3A4 and P-glycoprotein in the small bowel. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 27:161–170.
- 48.Wacher VJ, Silverman JA, Zhang Y, Benet LZ (1998) Role of P-glycoprotein and cytochrome P450 3A in limiting oral absorption of peptides and peptidomimetics. J Pharm Sci 87:1322–1330.
- 49.Kelly PA, Wang H, Napoli KL, Kahan BD, Strobel HW (1999) Metabolism of cyclosporine by cytochromes P450 3A9 and 3A4. Eur J Drug Metab Pharmacokinet 24:321–328.
- 50.Bogaards JJ, Bertrand M, Jackson P, Oudshoorn MJ, Weaver RJ, van Bladeren PJ, Walther B (2000) Determining the best animal model for human cytochrome P450 activities: a comparison of mouse, rat, rabbit, dog, micropig, monkey and man.

Xenobiotica 30:1131–1152.

- 51.Guengerich FP, Martin MV, Beaune PH, Kremers P, Wolff T, Waxman DJ (1986) Characterization of rat and human liver microsomal cytochrome P-450 forms involved in nifedipine oxidation, a prototype for genetic polymorphism in oxidative drug metabolism. J Biol Chem 261:5051–5060.
- 52.Lewis DFV (1996) Cytochrome P450. Substrate specificity and metabolism. In: Cytochromes P450. Structure, Function, and Mechanism. Taylor & Francis: Bristol:122–123.
- 53.Cao X, Gibbs ST, Fang L, Miller HA, Landowski CP, Shin HC, Lennernas H, Zhong Y, Amidon GL, Yu LX, Sun D (2006) Why is it challenging to predict intestinal drug absorption and oral bioavailability in human using rat model. Pharm Res 23:1675–1686.
- 54.Kivistö KT, Bookjans G, Formm MF, Griese EU, Munzel P, Kroemer HK (1996) Expression of CYP3A4, CYP3A5 and CYP3A7 in human duodenal tissue. Br J Clin Pharmacol 42:387–389.
- 55.Zhang QY, Dunbar D, Ostrowska A, Zeisloft S, Yang J, Kaminsky LS (1999) Characterization of human small intestinal cytochromes P-450. Drug Metab Dispos 27:804–809.
- 56.Niemi M, Neuvonen PJ, Kivistö KT (2001) The cytochrome P450 3A4 inhibitor clarithromycin increases the plasma concentrations and effects of repaglinide. Clin Pharmacol Ther 70:58–65.
- 57.Niemi M, Backman JT, Neuvonen M, Neuvonen PJ (2003) Effects of gemfibrozil, itraconazole, and their combination on the pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of

repaglinide: potentially hazardous interaction between gemfibrozil and repaglinide. Diabetologia 46:347–351.

Table 1. Mean (\pm SD) pharmacokinetic parameters of repaglinide after the oral administration of repaglinide (0.5 mg/kg) to rats in the presence or absence of efonidipine (1.0 and 3.0 mg/kg) (n = 6, each).

| Parameter (units) | Repaglinide (Control) | Repaglinide + efonidipine | |
|---------------------------------|--------------------------|---------------------------|-------------------|
| | | 1.0 mg/kg | 3.0 mg/kg |
| $AUC_{\theta-\infty}$ (ng·h/ml) | 506 ± 81 | 593 ± 101 | 763 ± 145** |
| C_{max} (ng/ml) | 192 ± 31 | 207 ± 35 | $253 \pm 45*$ |
| T_{max} (h) | 0.64 ± 0.10 | 0.63 ± 0.11 | 0.61 ± 0.12 |
| <i>t</i> _{1/2} (h) | 2.4 ± 0.4 | 2.7 ± 0.5 | $3.0 \pm 0.6*$ |
| CL/F (ml/min/kg) | 15.3 ± 2.7 | 13.1 ± 2.2 | 10.0 ± 1.7 ** |
| A. B. (%) | 32.2 ± 5.2 | 37.7 ± 6.4 | 48.5 ± 9.1 ** |
| <i>R. B.</i> (%) | 100 | 117 | 151 |

* P < 0.05, **P < 0.01, significant difference compared to the control group given repaglinide alone.

 $AUC_{0-\infty}$: area under the plasma concentration-time curve from 0 h to infinity; C_{max} : peak plasma concentration; T_{max} : time to reach C_{max} ; $t_{1/2}$: terminal half-life; CL/F: total body clearance; A.B.: absolute bioavailability; R.B.: relative bioavailability.

Table 2. Mean (\pm SD) pharmacokinetic parameters of repaglinide after the intravenous administration of repaglinide (0.2 mg/kg) to rats in the presence or absence of efonidipine (1.0 and 3.0 mg/kg) (n = 6, each).

| Parameter (units) | Repaglinide (Control) | Repaglinide + efonidipine | |
|---------------------------------|--------------------------|---------------------------|----------------|
| | | 1.0 mg/kg | 3.0 mg/kg |
| $AUC_{\theta-\infty}$ (ng·h/ml) | 629 ± 101 | 717 ± 122 | 829 ± 158* |
| $t_{1/2}(h)$ | 2.5 ± 0.4 | 2.6 ± 0.4 | 2.9 ± 0.6 |
| CL_t (ml/min/kg) | 5.2 ± 0.8 | 4.5 ± 0.7 | 3.9 ± 0.6 |
| Vd _{ss} (ml/kg) | 13.2 ± 2.2 | 12.3 ± 2.0 | 11.6 ± 2.0 |

* P < 0.05, significant difference compared to the control group given repaglinide alone.

 $AUC_{0-\infty}$: area under the plasma concentration-time curve from 0 h to infinity; $t_{1/2}$: terminal half-life; CL_t : total body clearance; Vd_{ss} : volume of distribution at steady state.



Figure 1. HPLC chromatograms of the blank rat plasma (A), the plasma spiked with repaglinide (6.8 min), indomethacin (internal standard; 8.5 min) (B), and efonidipine in the rat plasma (C).



Figure 2. A calibration curve of repaglinide was linear in the concentration range of 50– 5000 ng/ml in rat plasma. The typical equation describing the calibration curve in rat plasma was $y = 0.0031 \ x -0.0052$, where "y" is the peak area ratio of repaglinide to indomethacin and "x" is the concentration of repaglinide.



Figure 3. Inhibitory effects of ketoconazole and efonidipine on CYP3A4 activity. The experiment was performed in duplicate, and the result is expressed as the percent of inhibition.



Figure 4. Rhodamine-123 retention. MCF-7/ADR cells were preincubated with efonidipine for 30 min after incubation of MCF-7/ADR cells with 20 μ M R-123 for 90 min. Data represents mean ± SD of 6 separate samples. Verapamil (100 μ M) was used as a positive control (significant versus the control MCF-7 cells, ***P* < 0.01).



Figure 5. Mean blood glucose–time profiles in rats after oral (0.5 mg/kg) administration of repaglinide in the presence or absence of efonidipine (1.0 and 3.0mg/kg) (n = 6, each). Bars represent the standard deviation; Oral administration of 0.5 mg/kg repaglinide (control) (*solid circles* •), with 1.0 mg/kg efonidipine (*open circles* \circ) and with 3.0 mg/kg efonidipine (*solid triangles* $\mathbf{\nabla}$). **P* < 0.05 significant difference compared to control.



Figure 6. Mean blood glucose-time profiles in rats after intravenous (0.2 mg/kg) administration of repaglinide in the presence or absence of efonidipine (1.0 and 3.0 mg/kg) (n = 6, each). Bars represent the standard deviation; Intravenous administration of 0.2 mg/kg repaglinide (control) (*solid circles* •), with 1.0 mg/kg efonidipine (*open circles* \circ) and with 3.0 mg/kg efonidipine (*solid triangles* $\mathbf{\nabla}$).



Figure 7. Mean plasma concentration-time profiles of repaglinide after oral (0.5 mg/kg) administration of repaglinide to rats in the presence or absence of efonidipine (1.0 and 3.0 mg/kg) (n = 6, each). Bars represent the standard deviation; Oral administration of 0.5 mg/kg repaglinide (control) (*solid circles* •), with 1.0 mg/kg efonidipine (*open circles* \circ) and with 3.0 mg/kg efonidipine (*solid triangles* \mathbf{V}). **P* < 0.05 significant difference compared to control.



Figure 8. Mean plasma concentration-time profiles of repaglinide after intravenous (0.2 mg/kg) administration of repaglinide to rats in the presence or absence of efonidipine (1.0 and 3.0 mg/kg) (n = 6, each). Bars represent the standard deviation; Intravenous administration of 0.2 mg/kg repaglinide (control) (*solid circles* •), with 1.0 mg/kg efonidipine (*open circles* \circ) and with 3.0 mg/kg efonidipine (*solid triangles* \mathbf{V}).

Abstract

The purpose of this study was to investigate the effects of efonidipine on the pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of repaglinide in rats. Hypertension can be induced by the complications of diabetes. In the clinic, efonidipine can be prescribed to treat cardiovascular disease as a complication of diabetes; however, repaglinide and efonidipine interact with the same cytochrome P450 (CYP) enzyme and P-glycoprotein (P-gp).

The effect of efonidipine on P-gp and CYP enzyme activity was evaluated. The pharmacokinetic parameters of repaglinide and blood glucose concentrations were also determined in rats after oral (0.5 mg/kg) and intravenous (0.2 mg/kg) administration of repaglinide to rats in the presence and absence of efonidipine (1.0 and 3.0 mg/kg).

Efonidipine inhibited CYP3A4 activity with IC₅₀ value of 0.08 μ M, and efonidipine significantly inhibited P-gp activity in a concentration-dependent manner. Compared to the oral control group, efonidipine significantly increased the area under the plasma concentration-time curve ($AUC_{0-\infty}$) (P < 0.01 for 3.0 mg/kg) and the peak plasma concentration (C_{max}) (P < 0.05 for 3.0 mg/kg) of repaglinide by 51.3% and 28.6%, respectively. The terminal half-life ($t_{1/2}$) was significantly increased (3.0 mg/kg, P < 0.05) and the total body clearance (CL/F) was significantly decreased (3.0 mg/kg, P < 0.01) by efonidipine. Efonidipine also significantly (P < 0.01 for 3.0 mg/kg) increased the absolute bioavailability (A.B.) of repaglinide by 51.5% compared to the oral control group (33.6%). Moreover, the relative bioavailability (R.B.) of repaglinide was 1.17- to 1.51-fold greater than that of the control group. Compared to the intravenous control, efonidipine significantly (P < 0.05 for 3.0 mg/kg) increased the plasma concentration-time curve ($AUC_{0-\infty}$) of intravenously administered repaglinide. The blood glucose concentrations were significantly different compared to the oral control groups.

Efonidipine enhanced the oral bioavailability of repaglinide, and this effect may be mainly attributable to inhibition of the CYP3A isoforms-mediated metabolism of repaglinide in the small intestine and/or liver and to inhibition of the P-gp efflux pump in the small intestine rather than to reduction of elimination of repaglinide by efonidipine. The present study raises the awareness of potential drug interactions by concomitant use of efonidipine with repaglinide. Therefore, the concurrent use of efonidipine with repaglinide may require close monitoring of both potential drug interactions and blood glucose concentrations.

Key words: Repaglinide · Pharmacokinetics · Pharmacodynamics · Efonidipine · CYP3A isoforms · P-gp · Rats

Part II. Effects of Aspirin on the Pharmacokinetics and Pharmacodynamics and Repaglinide in Rats

국문초록

항혈소판제인 아스피린와 레파그리니드의 병용투여가 당뇨병 환자에서 합병증으로 초래될 수있는 순환기 질환 예방 및 치료를 위해서 처방되는 경우가 많다. 그러므로 이에 대한 상호작용을 알아보기 위하여 흰쥐에게 레파그리니드(경구; 0.5 mg/kg, 정매; 0.2 mg/kg)과 아스피린(5.0, 20.0 mg/kg)을 병용 경구투여한 후 레파그리니드의 약물동태와 약물동력학 변수들을 대조군과 비교 검토하였다.

횐쥐에서 아스피린과 레파그리니드을 병용 투여시 레파그리니드의 약물동태학적 변수는 유의성 있게 변화되었다. 대조군에 비해 아스피린 (5.0 and 20.0 mg/kg)과 병용투여 후 레파그리니드의 혈장농도-시간곡선하면적 (AUC_{0-∞})과 최고혈중농도 (C_{max})는 각각 유의성 (P < 0.05) 있게 증가되었으며, 전신클리어런스 (CL/F)는 각각 유의성 (P < 0.05) 있게 감소되었다. 절대 생체이용률은 대조군에 비해 각각 유의성 있게 증가되었으며 상대 생체이용률은 1.13-1.37 배 증가되었다. 그리고 아스피린은 레파그리니드의 혈당농도를 현저하게 저하 시켰다. 정맥투여군에서는 아스피린은 레파그리니드의 약동학적 변수에는 거의 영향을 주지 못하였다.

-41-

본 연구에서 아스피린을 각각 당뇨병치료제인 레파그리니드과 병용투여 하였을 때 경구투여된 레파그리니드의 생체이용률이 유의성 있게 증가된 것은 아스피린에 의한 신배설 감소 보다는 주로 소장에 존재하는 P-gp 억제에 의한 흡수증가와 주로 소장과 간장에 존재하는 CYP3A 억제에 의한 레파그리니드의 CYP3A (대사) 감소와 *CL/F* 의 감소에 기인한 것으로 사료되었다.

본 연구결과 임상에서 심혈관질병이 있는 당뇨병환자에게 레파그리니드와 아스피린을 병용투여시 이들의 상호작용출현에 대해서 주시를 해야한다고 사료된다.

1. Introduction

Repaglinide is a novel post-prandial glucose regulator for the treatment of type 2 diabetes mellitus [1, 2]. It helps to control blood glucose by increasing the amount of insulin released by the pancreas [3]. Repaglinide stimulates the release of insulin from pancreatic β -cells by binding to and closing ATP-dependent potassium channels. This depolarizes the plasma membrane, leading to the opening of voltage-dependent calcium channels. The influx of calcium ions, which increases intracellular Ca2+, triggers exocytosis of insulin [4].

Aspirin is a salicylate drug that is often used as an analgesic to relieve minor aches and pains, as an antipyretic to reduce fever, and as an anti-inflammatory medication [5]. More recently, aspirin has been evaluated in the prevention of two leading causes of death in cardiovascular disease (including stroke, myocardial infarction and thromboembolism) [6, 7]. Previous studies have recommended aspirin for primary prevention for diabetic patients at risk of recurrent cardiovascular risk [8, 9].

Diabetes mellitus type 2 – formerly non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus (NIDDM) or adult-onset diabetes – is a metabolic disorder that is characterized by high blood glucose in the context of insulin resistance and relative insulin deficiency [10]. Diabetes is often initially managed by exercise and dietary modification. If the condition progresses, medications may be needed. Often affecting the obese, diabetes requires patients to routinely check their blood sugar. Unlike type 1 diabetes, there is very little tendency toward ketoacidosis although it is not unheard of [11]. One effect that can occur is nonketonic hyperglycemia. Long-term complications from high blood sugar include increased risk of heart attacks, strokes, amputation, diabetic retinopathy in which eyesight is affected, and

kidney failure. In extreme cases, circulation of in limbs is affected and amputation may be required. Loss of hearing, eyesight, and cognitive ability has also been linked to this condition.

Hypertension or high blood pressure is a chronic cardiac medical condition in which the systemic arterial blood pressure is elevated such that the heart has to work harder than it should to pump the blood throughout the body. Type 2 diabetes and hypertension are strongly linked. Hypertension can increase the chance of cardiovascular disease, leading to a heart attack or stroke, as well raising the risk of kidney disease, blindness and the need for amputation. Research has shown that at least 40% of people suffering from diabetes in its various forms have hypertension [12]. In people without diabetes, the endothelial cells that line blood vessels contain nitric oxide (NO), which helps to maintain blood pressure at a normal level. Unfortunately, people with diabetes experience a reduction of NO in endothelial cells caused by attacks by cell-damaging "renegade" molecules called free radicals. This process leads to endothelial dysfunction, which is frequently a harbinger of cardiovascular disease such as heart attack or stroke. High levels of fatty acids and triglycerides in the blood stream - common in persons with diabetes - may also damage the heart, leading to cardiomyopathy, which occurs when the heart muscle becomes inflamed and doesn't work properly. If neglected, this condition can eventually lead to heart failure [12].

Repaglinide is rapidly absorbed from the gastrointestinal tract after oral administration. It differs from other antidiabetic agents in its structure, binding profile, duration of action and mode of excretion [13]. Repaglinide is primarily metabolized via oxidative biotransformation involving the hepatic microsomal cytochrome P450 system, particularly the CYP3A4 [14]. The metabolic pathway of repaglinide indicates two major sites for the principal biotransformation of repaglinide: the piperidine ring and the aromatic carboxylic acid group [15]. Repaglinide has affinity for P-gp and it can significantly contribute to potential drug-drug interactions with other P-gp substrates or inhibitors [16]. Kajosaari *et al.* [17] reported that co-administration of repaglinide with the known P-gp inhibitor cyclosporine A could significantly increase the plasma concentrations of repaglinide in humans.

Aspirin is absorbed rapidly from the gastrointestinal tract when taken orally. There are few reports about CYP enzyme and P-gp activity for aspirin. Therefore, we evaluated the inhibition of CYP enzyme and P-gp activity by aspirin using CYP inhibition assays and rhodamine-123 retention assays in P-gp-overexpressing MCF-7/ADR cells.

Clinically repaglinide and aspirin, an antiplatelet agent, can be prescribed for prevention or treatment of diabetes and cardiovascular disease as a complication of diabetes. However, pharmacokinetic interaction between repaglinide and aspirin has not been reported. Therefore, the present study aims to investigate the effect of aspirin on CYP enzyme activity, P-gp activity and the pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of repaglinide after oral and intravenous administration in rats.

2. Materials and Methods

2.1 Materials

Repaglinide, aspirin and indomethacin (internal standard) were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich Co. (St. Louis, MO, USA). HPLC-grade methanol and acetonitrile were acquired from Merck Co. (Darmstadt, Germany). All other chemicals for this study were of reagent grade and were used without further purification. Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium was from Hyclone Laboratories (Logan, UT, USA), Hank's balanced salt solution was from Invitrogen (Grand Island, NY, USA), fetal bovine serum was from PAA Laboratories (Etobiroke, Ontario, Canada), rhodamine was from Calbiochem, (San Diego, CA, USA) and the CYP inhibition assay kit was from GENTEST (Woburn, MA, USA).

Apparatuses used in this study included an HPLC equipped with a Waters 1515 isocratic HPLC Pump, a Waters 717 plus auto sampler and a WatersTM 2487 scanning UV detector (Waters Co., Milford, MA, USA), an HPLC column temperature controller (Phenomenex Inc., CA, USA), a Bransonic® Ultrasonic Cleaner (Branson Ultrasonic Co., Danbury, CT, USA), a vortex-mixer (Scientific Industries Co., NY, USA), a high-speed microcentrifuge (Hitachi Co., Tokyo, Japan), and the Onetouch® UltraTM Blood Glucose Monitoring System (LifeScan Inc., CA, USA).

2.2 Animal studies

Male Sprague-Dawley rats (weighing 270-300 g) were purchased from the Dae Han Laboratory Animal Research Co. (Choongbuk, Korea) and were given access to a commercial rat chow diet (No. 322-7-1, Superfeed Co., Gangwon, Korea) and tap water. The animals were housed, two per cage, and maintained at $22 \pm 2^{\circ}$ C and 50–60% relative humidity under a 12:12 h light-dark cycle. The experiments were initiated after acclimation under these conditions for at least 1 week. The Animal Care Committee of Chosun University (Gwangju, Korea) approved the design and the conduct of this study. The rats were fasted for at least 24 h prior to the experiments and each animal was anaesthetized lightly with ether. The left femoral artery and vein were cannulated using polyethylene tubing (SP45, i.d. 0.58 mm, o.d. 0.96 mm; Natsume Seisakusho Co. LTD., Tokyo, Japan) for blood sampling and i.v. injection, respectively.

2.3 Drug administration

The rats were divided into six groups (n=6, each): an oral control group (0.5 mg/kg of repaglinide dissolved in distilled water, 1.0 ml/kg) without or with 5.0 and 20.0 mg/kg of aspirin (mixed in distilled water, 3.0 ml/kg), and an i.v. control group (0.2 mg/kg of repaglinide, dissolved in 0.9% NaCl solution, 1.5 ml/kg) without or with 5.0 and 20.0 mg/kg of aspirin (mixed in distilled water, 3.0 ml/kg). Oral repaglinide was administered intragastrically using an injector equipped with a long blunt needle (feeding tube), and aspirin was administered in the same manner 30 min prior to the oral administration of repaglinide. Repaglinide for i.v. administration was injected through the femoral vein within 0.5 min. A 0.5-ml aliquot of blood was collected into heparinized tubes from the femoral artery at 0.25, 0.5, 0.75, 1, 2, 4, 6, and 10 h after repaglinide oral administration and at 0 (to serve as control), 0.1, 0.25, 0.5, 1, 2, 6, and 10h after repaglinide i.v. administration. The blood samples were centrifuged at 13000 rpm for 3 min, and the plasma samples were

stored at -40°C until HPLC analysis. Approximately 1.0 ml of whole blood collected from untreated rats was infused via the femoral artery at 0.75, 2, 4 and 6 h to replace the blood lost due to blood sampling.

2.4 HPLC assay

The plasma concentration of repaglinide was determined by HPLC as reported by Ruzilawati et al. [4] with a slight modification. Briefly, a 50-ul aliquot of 1 ug/ml indomethacin, as an internal standard, and a 0.2-ml aliquot of 0.1 mol/l potassium dihydrogen orthophosphate (KH2PO4, pH 5.9) were mixed with a 0.2-ml aliquot of the plasma sample. After the mixture was vortexed, 1 ml of ethylacetate, 50 µl of isoamylalcohol and 35 µl of 1.0 M NaOH were added. The resulting mixture was then vortex-mixed for 10 min and centrifuged at 9000 rpm for 10 min. After centrifugation, the ethylacetate phase was transferred to a clean test tube and evaporated under a gentle stream of nitrogen gas at 45°C. The dried extract was reconstituted with 150 µl of mobile phase, vortex-mixed and transferred to a clean autosampler vial. A 70-ul aliquot of the supernatant was injected into the HPLC system. Chromatographic separation was achieved using a μBondapakTM C18 column (3.9×300 mm i.d., 10 μm, Waters Co.) attached to a μ BondapakTM C18 guard column (3.9×20 mm i.d., 10 μ m, Waters Co.). The mobile phase consisted of acetonitrile: 0.01 M ammonium formate (pH 2.7, adjusted with phosphoric acid) (56:44, v/v). The flow-rate of the mobile phase was maintained at 1.0 ml/min. Chromatography was performed at 25°C and regulated by an HPLC column temperature controller. The UV detector was operated at a wavelength of 244 nm. Plasma calibration curves were prepared and assayed in triplicate on three different days to evaluate linearity,

precision, accuracy, recovery, limit of quantitation (LOQ), limit of detection (LOD), selectivity and stability.

2.5 Determination of blood glucose concentrations

Blood samples were collected at 0, 1, 3, 6, and 10 h after oral and intravenous repaglinide administration. Blood glucose concentrations were measured immediately using the Onetouch® UltraTM Blood Glucose Monitoring System and the glucose assay kit from BioAssay Systems (QuantiChromTM Glucose Assay Kit) as described by Yoon and Mekalanos [18].

2.6 CYP inhibition assay

The inhibition assays of human CYP3A4 enzyme activity were performed in a multiwell plate using the CYP inhibition assay kit (GENTEST, Woburn, MA) as described previously [19]. Briefly, human CYP enzymes were obtained from baculovirus-infected insect cells. CYP substrate [7-Benzyloxy-4-(trifluoromethyl) couamrin, 7-BFC for CYP3A4] was incubated (2 µM of both CYP isoforms and 50 mM of 7-BFC were used in the incubation mixture as described in the manual of CYP inhibition assay kit) with or without aspirin in enzyme/substrate buffer consisting of 1 pmol of P450 enzyme and a NADPH generating system (1.3 mM NADP, 3.54 mM glucose 6-phosphate, 0.4 U/ml glucose 6-phosphate dehydrogenase and 3.3 mM MgCl₂) in potassium phosphate buffer (pH 7.4). Reactions were terminated by adding stop solution after 45-min incubation. Metabolite concentrations were measured by spectrofluorometer (Molecular Devices, Sunnyvale, CA) at an excitation wavelength of 409 nm and an emission wavelength of 530 nm. A positive

control (1 μ M ketoconazole) was run on the same plate and produced 99% inhibition. All experiments were performed in duplicate, and results are expressed as the percent of inhibition.

2.7 Rhodamine-123 retention assay

The procedures used for the Rho-123 retention assay were similar to a previously reported method [20]. The P-gp overexpressed multidrug resistant human breast carcinoma cell line (MCF-7/ADR cells) were seeded in 24-well plates at a seeding density of 10^5 cells and preincubated with aspirin and verapamil for 30 min. At 80% confluency, the cells were incubated in fetal bovine serum free Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium for 18 h. The culture medium was changed to Hanks' balanced salt solution and the cells were incubated at 37° C for 30 min. After incubation of the cells with 20 µM rhodamine-123 in the presence or absence of aspirin (10, 30 and 100 µM) for 90 min, the medium was completely removed. The cells were then washed three times with ice-cold phosphate buffer (pH 7.0) and lysed in lysis buffer. Rhodamine-123 fluorescence in the cell lysates was measured using excitation and emission wavelengths of 480 and 540 nm, respectively. Fluorescence values were normalized to the total protein content of each sample and are presented as the ratio to control.

2.8 Pharmacokinetic analysis

The plasma concentration data were analyzed by the non-compartmental method using Thermo Kinetica Software Version 5.0 (Thermo Fisher Scientific Inc., Miami, OK, USA). The elimination rate constant (K_{el}) was calculated by log-linear regression of repaglinide concentration during the elimination phase. The terminal half-life $(t_{1/2})$ was calculated by $0.693/K_{el}$. The peak plasma concentration (C_{max}) and time to reach peak plasma concentration (T_{max}) of repaglinide in plasma were obtained by visual inspection of the data from the concentration–time curve. The area under the plasma concentration-time curve from 0 h to the time (AUC_{0-t}) of last measured concentration (C_{last}) was calculated by the linear trapezoidal rule. The AUC from zero to infinity $(AUC_{0-\infty})$ was obtained by the addition of AUC_{0-t} and the extrapolated area determined by C_{last}/K_{el} . Total body clearance (CL/F) was calculated by:

$$CL/F = \frac{Dose}{AUC}$$

The mean residence time (MRT) was calculated by dividing the first moment of AUC $(AUMC_{0-\infty})$ by $AUC_{0-\infty}$. The apparent volume of distribution at steady state (Vd_{ss}) was estimated by the product of MRT_{i.v.} and CL_t after i.v. dosing. The absolute bioavailability (A.B.) was calculated by:

$$AB\% = \frac{AUC_{oral}}{AUC_{i.v.}} \times \frac{Dose_{i.v.}}{Dose_{oral}} \times 100\%$$

The relative bioavailability (*R*.*B*.) was calculated by:

$$RB\% = \frac{AUC_{with \ aspirin}}{AUC_{control}} \times 100\%$$

2.9 Statistical analysis

Statistical analysis was conducted using one-way ANOVA followed by a posteriori testing with the Dunnett correction. Differences were considered significant at P < 0.05. All mean values are presented with their standard deviation (Mean ± SD).

3. Results

3.1 Chromatographic separation

Figure 9 illustrates chromatograms of the blank rat plasma samples (A), the plasma spiked with repaglinide, indomethacin (internal standard, IS) (B), and aspirin (C). The retention times of repaglinide and indomethacin (IS) were 6.8 and 8.5 min, respectively. The overall run time lasted 10 min. Aspirin did not interfere with the detection of repaglinide and indomethacin (IS) in this method.

3.2 Validation characteristics of analysis

Figure 10 shows the calibration curve of repaglinide constructed by plotting the ratio of the peak area of repaglinide to that of indomethacin as a function of the plasma repaglinide concentrations (50, 100, 200, 500, 1000, 2000 and 5000 ng/ml). There was excellent linearity over the range of 50–5000 ng/ml with a mean correlation coefficient of 0.999. The typical equation describing the calibration curve in rat plasma was y = 0.0031 x -0.0052, where y is the peak area ratio of repaglinide to indomethacin and x is the concentration of repaglinide. The recovery of repaglinide in rat plasma was 102.2%. The LOD and LOQ for repaglinide in rat plasma were 20 ng/ml. The intra- and inter-day coefficients for variation of repaglinide were below 12.1 and 11.5%, respectively.

3.3 CYP inhibition assay

The inhibitory effect of ketoconazole and aspirin on CYP3A4 enzyme activity is shown

in Figure 11. Ketoconazole and aspirin inhibited CYP3A4 enzyme activity in a concentration-dependent manner. Ketoconazole and aspirin inhibited CYP3A4 enzyme activity with IC_{50} values of 0.03 and 15.0 μ M, respectively.

3.4 Rhodamine-123 retention assay

The effect of aspirin on the cellular accumulation of rhodamine-123 in MCF-7 and MCF-7/ADR cells is shown in Figure 12. Accumulation of rhodamine-123 was reduced in MCF-7/ADR cells overexpressing P-gp compared to that in MCF-7 cells lacking P-gp. The relative cellular uptake of rhodamine-123 was comparable at the concentration range of 10-100 μ M aspirin. This result suggests that aspirin did not inhibit P-gp activity.

3.5 Determination of blood glucose concentrations

Repaglinide pharmacodynamics was characterized by determining blood glucose levels. Mean blood glucose–time profiles in rats after oral (0.5 mg/kg) and intravenous (0.2 mg/kg) administration of repaglinide in the presence or absence of aspirin (5.0 and 20.0 mg/kg) (n=6, each) are shown in Figure 13 and 14. Compared to the control group, aspirin significantly decreased the blood glucose levels after oral administration of repaglinide, revealing a significant hypoglycemic effect (Figure 13); however, there was no significant difference after intravenous administration of repaglinide (Figure 14).

3.6 Effect of aspirin on the pharmacokinetics of oral repaglinide

Mean arterial plasma concentration-time profiles of repaglinide following oral administration of repaglinide (0.5 mg/kg) to rats in the presence or absence of aspirin (5.0

and 20.0 mg/kg) are shown in Figure 15; the corresponding pharmacokinetic parameters are shown in Table 3. Aspirin significantly altered the pharmacokinetic parameters of repaglinide. Compared to the control group (given oral repaglinide alone), aspirin significantly increased the area under the plasma concentration-time curve ($AUC_{0-\infty}$, P <0.05 at 20.0 mg/kg) and the peak plasma concentration (C_{max} , P < 0.05 at 20.0 mg/kg) of repaglinide by 36.6% and 18.8%, respectively. The total body clearance (CL/F) was significantly decreased (20.0 mg/kg, P < 0.05) by aspirin. Aspirin increased the absolute bioavailability (A.B.) of repaglinide by 36.9% (20.0 mg/kg, P < 0.05) compared to the oral control group, and the relative bioavailability (R.B.) of repaglinide by 1.13- to 1.37-fold. There were no significant differences in the time to reach peak plasma concentration (T_{max}), terminal half-life ($t_{1/2}$) of repaglinide in the presence of aspirin.

3.7 Effect of aspirin on the pharmacokinetics of intravenous repaglinide

Mean plasma concentration-time profiles of repaglinide after the intravenous administration of repaglinide (0.2 mg/kg) to rats in the presence or absence of aspirin (5.0 and 20.0 mg/kg) are shown in Figure 16, correlated pharmacokinetic parameters are shown in Table 4. The $AUC_{0-\infty}$ of repaglinide was increased, but was not statistically significant compared to that in the control. The CL_t and Vd_{ss} values of repaglinide tended to decrease, but this trend was not statistically significant. The $t_{1/2}$ of repaglinide was also prolonged, but this increase was not significant. In contrast to those of oral repaglinide, the pharmacokinetics of intravenous repaglinide were not affected by the concurrent use of aspirin. Accordingly, the enhanced oral bioavailability in the presence of aspirin, while there was no significant change in the pharmacokinetics of intravenous repaglinide, may be

mainly due to inhibition of the CYP3A isoforms-mediated metabolism of repaglinide in the small intestine and/or in liver by aspirin rather than by renal elimination of repaglinide.

4. Discussion

Type 2 diabetes mellitus is a common health problem associated with cardiovascular disease, with an increasing incidence worldwide [21]. Aspirin, an antiplatalet agent, is one of the most widely employed drugs in the prevention of cardiovascular disease [22]. As socalled secondary prevention, it is effective for the prevention of cardiovascular events in patients with a history of vascular disease. In the general population with no history of previous myocardial infarction or stroke, aspirin also seems to be useful for primary prevention of cardiovascular events, although the absolute benefits are smaller than those seen in patients with previous cardiovascular disease [23]. Mazzone reported that aspirin has been recommended for primary prevention in diabetic patients at risk of recurrent cardiovascular risk [16]. Clinically, repaglinide and aspirin, an antiplatelet agent, could be prescribed for prevention or treatment of diabetes and cardiovascular disease as a complication of diabetes. Considering that the drugs used in combination therapy often share the same metabolic pathways or cellular transport pathways, there is a high potential for pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic drug interactions between repaglinide and aspirin. Consequently, this study was designed to investigate the effect of aspirin on CYP3A4 enzyme activity, P-gp activity and the pharmacokinetics or pharmacodynamics of repaglinide after oral and intravenous administration of repaglinide in rats.

The cytochrome P450 superfamily is a large and diverse group of enzymes. Most CYP enzymes function to catalyze the oxidation of organic substances. The substrates of CYP enzymes include metabolic intermediates such as lipids and steroidal hormones, as well as xenobiotic substances such as drugs and other toxic chemicals. CYPs are the major enzymes

involved in drug metabolism and bioactivation, accounting for about 75% of the total number of different metabolic reactions [24].

Many drugs may increase or decrease the activity of various CYP isozymes either by inducing the biosynthesis of an isozyme (enzyme induction) or by directly inhibiting the activity of the CYP (enzyme inhibition). This is a major source of adverse drug interactions, since changes in CYP enzyme activity may affect the metabolism and clearance of various drugs. For example, if one drug inhibits the CYP-mediated metabolism of another drug, the second drug may accumulate within the body to toxic levels. Hence, these drug interactions may necessitate dosage adjustments or choosing drugs that do not interact with the CYP system. Such drug interactions are especially important to take into account when using drugs of vital importance to the patient, drugs with important side-effects and drugs with small therapeutic windows, but any drug may be subject to an altered plasma concentration due to altered drug metabolism.

One of the principal cytochrome P450 isoforms involved in repaglinide metabolism in human liver microsomes is CYP3A4. CYP3A4 is the most abundant isoform of cytochrome P450 in the human liver [25] and is responsible for the metabolism of many different drugs [26]. Levels of CYP3A4 vary substantially between individuals; these variations may be related to induction of the isoform by various drugs and may partially account for the observed inter-individual variations in repaglinide metabolism [27]. As CYP3A9 expressed in rat corresponds to the ortholog of CYP3A4 in human [28], rat CYP3A2 is similar to human CYP3A4 [29, 30]. Human 3A4 and rat 3A1 have 73% of protein homology [31]. Rats were selected as an animal model in this study to evaluate the potential pharmacokinetic interactions mediated by CYP3A4, although there should be some difference in enzyme activity between rat and human [32].

Considering that repaglinide is a substrate of both CYP3A isoforms and P-gp [14, 16], the effects of aspirin on the CYP enzyme activity and the cell-based P-gp activity were evaluated. As shown in Figure 1, aspirin inhibited CYP3A4 activity with IC_{50} value of 15.0 μ M. However, the relative cellular uptake of rhodamine-123 was comparable (Figure 2). This suggested that aspirin could not inhibit P-gp activity. The inhibitory effect of aspirin against CYP3A isoforms-mediated metabolism was confirmed by the employment of recombinant CYP enzymes. Poor solubility and first-pass metabolism in the liver and epithelial cells of the small intestine result in low bioavailability of repaglinide (56%) [16], and CYP3A inhibitors might alter the bioavailability and pharmacokinetics of repaglinide. The inhibitory effect of aspirin against CYP3A isoforms-mediated metabolism was confirmed through the use of recombinant CYP3A enzyme. Aspirin is rapidly hydrolyzed into salicylic acid in intestine and liver after oral administration, but the plasma concentration of aspirin after oral administration is over 20 µg/ml in human and rat [33, 34]. This result supports that its IC₅₀ for CYP3A4 inhibition is physiologically relevant and that aspirin might therefore affect the bioavailability and pharmacokinetics of repaglinide through CYP3A4 inhibition.

In this study, aspirin significantly decreased the blood glucose levels compared to the oral control group and increased the $AUC_{0-\infty}$ by 36.6% and the *R.B.* of repaglinide by 1.13-to 1.37-fold. Aspirin considerably increased the C_{max} of repaglinide, it seems that aspirin inhibited the CYP3A isoforms-mediated biotransformation of repaglinide mainly during first-pass metabolism. CYP3A isoforms is present in considerable quantities in the small-intestine mucosa [35, 36], and the intestine CYP3A isoforms has been shown to play a

major role in drug interactions with CYP3A isoforms inhibitors. These results are consistent with a report by Niemi *et al.* [37] showing that clarithromycin, a CYP3A4 inhibitor, significantly increased the $AUC_{0-\infty}$ and C_{max} of repaglinide and enhanced the repaglinide blood glucose-lowering effect, despite that no statistically significant differences were found in the blood concentrations between control group and clarithromycin. Niemi *et al.* [38] reported that gemfibrozil significantly increased the $AUC_{0-\infty}$ of repaglinide 8.1-fold and enhanced the blood glucose-lowering effect of repaglinide. This result is also consistent with our study.

After intravenous administration of repaglinide with aspirin, the $AUC_{\theta-\infty}$ of repaglinide was increased, but this effect was not significant. The CL_t and Vd_{ss} values of repaglinide tended to decrease, but these tends were not statistically significant. This suggests that the effects of oral aspirin on the inhibition of hepatic metabolism of repaglinide via CYP3A isoforms were almost negligible. In contrast to those of oral repaglinide, the pharmacokinetics of intravenous repaglinide were not affected by the concurrent use of aspirin. Accordingly, while there was no significant change in the pharmacokinetics of intravenous repaglinide, the enhanced oral bioavailability may be mainly due to inhibition of the CYP3A isoforms-mediated metabolism of repaglinide in the small intestine and/or liver by aspirin rather than renal elimination of repaglinide. Although there are potential adverse effects, this interaction may provide a therapeutic benefit whereby it enhances bioavailability, allowing a reduction in the dose administered. Since the present study has raised the awareness of potential drug interactions by concomitant use of aspirin with repaglinide, the clinical significance of this finding needs to be further evaluated in clinical studies.
5. Conclusion

Aspirin, an antiplatalet agent, significantly enhanced the oral bioavailability of repaglinide. The enhanced bioavailability of repaglinide may be attributable to the inhibition of the CYP3A isoforms-mediated metabolism in the small intestine and/or liver and to reduction of total body clearance rather than both to inhibition of P-gp in the small intestine and to reduction of renal elimination of repaglinide by aspirin.

The increase in the oral bioavailability of repaglinide should be taken into consideration of potential drug interactions when coadministering repaglinide and aspirin. Furthermore, the blood glucose concentrations should be carefully monitored during their coadministration.

References

- Marbury TM, Ruckle JL, Hatorp V, Andersen MP, Nielsen KK, Huang WC, Strange P (2000) Pharmacokinetic of repaglinide in subjects with renal impairment. Clin Pharmacol Ther 67:7–15.
- Hatorp V, Won-Chin H, Strange P (1999) Repaglinide pharmacokinetic in healthy young adult and eldery subjects. Clin Ther 21:702–710.
- Gromada J, Dissing S, Kofod H, Frokjaer-Jensen J (1995) Effects of the hypoglycaemic drugs repaglinide and glibenclamide on ATP-sensitive potassiumchannels and cytosolic 113 calcium levels in beta TC3 cells and rat pancreatic beta cells. Diabetologia 38:1025–1032.
- Ruzilawati AB, Wahab MS, Imran A, Ismail Z, Gan SH (2007) Method development and validation of repaglinide in human plasma by HPLC and its application in pharmacokinetic studies. J Pharm Biomed Anal 43:1831–1835.
- Kapetanovic IM, Bauer KS, Tessier DM, Lindeblad MO, Zakharov AD, Lubet R, Lyubimov A (2009) Comparison of pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic profiles of aspirin following oral gavage and diet dosing in rats. Chem Biol Interact 179:233–239.
- Hennekens CH (2007) Aspirin in the treatment and prevention of cardiovascular disease: current perspectives and future directions. Curr Atheroscler Rep 9:409–416.
- Patrono C, Rocca B (2008) Aspirin: promise and resistance in the new millennium, Arterioscler. Thromb Vasc Biol 28:s25–32.
- 8. Mazzone T (2000) Current concepts and controversies in the pathogenesis, prevention and treatment of the macrovascular complications of diabetes. J Lab Clin Med

135:437-443.

- Soejima H, Morimoto T, Saito Y, Ogawa H (2010) Aspirin for the primary prevention of cardiovascular events in patients with peripheral artery disease or diabetes mellitus. Analyses from the JPAD, POPADAD and AAA trials. Thromb Haemost 104:1085– 1088.
- Kumar V, Fausto N, Abbas AK, Cotran RS, Robbins SL (2005) Robbins and Cotran Pathologic Basis of Disease (7th ed.). Philadelphia, Pa.: Saunders. pp. 1194–1195.
- Fasanmade OA, Odeniyi IA, Ogbera AO (2008) Diabetic ketoacidosis: diagnosis and management. Afr J Med Med Sci 37:99–105.
- Hu G, Sarti C, Jousilahti P, Peltonen M, Qiao Q, Antikainen R, Tuomilehto J (2005) The impact of history of hypertension and type 2 diabetes at baseline on the incidence of stroke and stroke mortality. Stroke. 36:2538–2543
- Culy JR, Jarvis B (2001) Repaglinide: a review of its therapeutic use in type 2 diabetes mellitus. Drugs 61:1625–1660.
- Bidstrup TB, Bjørnsdottir I, Sidelmann UG, Thomsen MS, Hansen KT (2003) CYP2C8 and CYP3A4 are the principal enzymes involved in the human in vitro biotransformation of the insulin secretagogue repaglinide. Br J Clin Pharmacol 56:305–314.
- Bauer E, Beschke K, Ebner T, Greischel A (1997) Biotransformation of [14C] repaglinide in human, cynomolgus monkey, dog, rabbit, rat and mouse. Diabetologia 1:326–332.
- Chang C, Bahadduri PM, Polli JE, Swaan PW, Ekins S (2006) Rapid identification of P-glycoprotein substrates and inhibitors. Drug Metab Dispos 34:1976–1984.

- Kajosaari L, Niemi M, Neuvonen M, Laitila J, Neuvonen PJ, Backman JT (2005) Cyclosporine markedly raises the plasma concentrations of repaglinide. Clin Pharmacol Ther 78:388–399.
- Yoon SS, Mekalanos JJ (2006) 2,3-butanediol synthesis and the emergence of the Vibrio cholerae El Tor biotype. Infect Immun 74:6547–6556.
- Crespi CL, Miller VP, Penman BW (1997) Microtiter plate assays for inhibition of human, drug-metabolizing cytochromes P450. Anal Biochem 248:188–190.
- Han CY, Cho KB, Choi HS, Han HK, Kang KW (2008) Role of FoxO1 activation in MDR1 expression in adriamycin-resistant breast cancer cells. Carcinogenesis 29:1837–1844.
- Gomes MB, Giannella-Neto D, Faria M, Tambascia M, Fonseca RM, Rea R, Macedo G, Modesto-Filho J, Schmid H, Bittencourt AV, Cavalcanti S, Rassi N, Pedrosa H, Dib SA (2009) Estimating cardiovascular risk in patients with type 2 diabetes: a national multicenter study in Brazil. Diabetol Metab Syndr 1:22–28.
- 22. Kotani K, Kimura S, Ebara T, Caccavello R, Gugliucci A (2010) Serum aspirin esterase is strongly associated with glucose and lipids in healthy subjects: different association patterns in subjects with type 2 diabetes mellitus. Diabetol Metab Syndr 2:50–54.
- Pignone M, Williams CD (2010) Aspirin for primary prevention of cardiovascular disease in diabetes mellitus. Nat Rev Endocrinol 6:619–628.
- Guengerich FP (2008) Cytochrome p450 and chemical toxicology. Chem Res Toxicol 21:70–83.
- 25. Gonzalez FJ (1993) Cytochrome P450 in humans. In: Schenkman JB, Grein H, editors.

Cytochrome P450: handbook of experimental pharmacology. Berlin: Springer-Verlag, Vol. 105.

- Li AP, Kaminski DL, Rasmussen A (1995) Substrates of human hepatic cytochrome P450 3A4. Toxicology 104:1–8.
- Wrighton SA, Stevens JC (1992) The human hepatic cytochromes P450 involved in drug metabolism. Crit Rev Toxicol 22:1–21.
- Kelly PA, Wang H, Napoli KL, Kahan BD, Strobel HW (1999) Metabolism of cyclosporine by cytochromes P450 3A9 and 3A4. Eur J Drug Metab Pharmacokinet 24:321–328.
- Bogaards JJ, Bertrand M, Jackson P, Oudshoorn MJ, Weaver RJ, van Bladeren PJ, Walther B. (2000) Determining the best animal model for human cytochrome P450 activities: a comparison of mouse, rat, rabbit, dog, micropig, monkey and man. Xenobiotica 30:1131–1152.
- 30. Guengerich FP, Martin MV, Beaune PH, Kremers P, Wolff T, Waxman DJ (1986) Characterization of rat and human liver microsomal cytochrome P-450 forms involved in nifedipine oxidation, a prototype for genetic polymorphism in oxidative drug metabolism. J Biol Chem 261:5051–5060.
- Lewis DFV (1996) Cytochrome P450. Substrate specificity and metabolism. In: Cytochromes P450. Structure, Function, and Mechanism. Taylor & Francis: Bristol, PA, 122–123.
- 32. Cao X, Gibbs ST, Fang L, Miller HA, Landowski CP, Shin HC, Lennernas H, Zhong Y, Amidon GL, Yu LX, Sun D (2006) Why is it challenging to predict intestinal drug absorption and oral bioavailability in human using rat model. Pharm Res 23:1675–

1686.

- 33. Anttila M, Kahela P, Uotila P (1988) The absorption of acetylsalicylic acid from an enteric-coated formulation and the inhibition of thromboxane formation. Int J Clin Pharmacol Ther Toxicol 26:88–92.
- Wientjes MG, Levy G (1988) Nonlinear pharmacokinetics of aspirin in rats. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 245:809–815.
- Kivistö KT, Bookjans G, Formm MF, Griese EU, Munzel P, Kroemer HK (1996) Expression of CYP3A4, CYP3A5 and CYP3A7 in human duodenal tissue. Br J Clin Pharmacol 42:387–389.
- Zhang QY, Dunbar D, Ostrowska A, Zeisloft S, Yang J, Kaminsky LS (1999) Characterization of human small intestinal cytochromes P-450. Drug Metab Dispos 27:804–809.
- Niemi M, Neuvonen PJ, Kivistö KT (2001) The cytochrome P450 3A4 inhibitor clarithromycin increases the plasma concentrations and effects of repaglinide. Clin Pharmacol Ther 70:58–65.
- 38. Niemi M, Backman JT, Neuvonen M, Neuvonen PJ (2003) Effects of gemfibrozil, itraconazole, and their combination on the pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of repaglinide: potentially hazardous interaction between gemfibrozil and repaglinide. Diabetologia 46:347–351.

Table 3. Pharmacokinetic parameters of repaglinide after the oral administration of repaglinide (0.5 mg/kg) to rats in the presence or absence of aspirin (5.0 and 20.0 mg/kg) (n=6, each).

| Parameter | Repaglinide (Control) | Repaglinide + Aspirin | |
|----------------------------|--------------------------|-----------------------|--------------------|
| | | 5.0 mg/kg | 20.0 mg/kg |
| $AUC_{0-\infty}$ (ng·h/ml) | 545.4 ± 98.2 | 616.3 ± 117.1 | 744.8 ± 126.6* |
| $C_{max}(ng/ml)$ | 185.2 ± 20.3 | $194.1~\pm~28.9$ | $220.0 \pm 13.8*$ |
| T_{max} (h) | $0.67~\pm~0.13$ | $0.71~\pm~0.10$ | $0.79~\pm~0.10$ |
| $t_{1/2}(h)$ | $2.5~\pm~0.5$ | $2.7~\pm~0.5$ | $2.9~\pm~0.7$ |
| CL/F (ml/min/kg) | 15.3 ± 2.8 | 13.5 ± 2.6 | 11.3 ± 1.9* |
| A.B. (%) | $33.9~\pm~6.2$ | $38.4~\pm~7.3$ | $46.4 \pm 7.9^{*}$ |
| R.B. (%) | 100 | 113 | 137 |

* P < 0.05, significant difference compared to control.

AUC_{0- ∞}: area under the plasma concentration-time curve from 0 h to infinity; C_{max} : peak plasma concentration; T_{max} : time to reach C_{max} ; $t_{1/2}$: terminal half-life; *CL/F*: total body clearance; *A.B.*: absolute bioavailability; *R.B.*: relative bioavailability.

Table 4. Pharmacokinetic parameters of repaglinide after the intravenous administration of repaglinide (0.2 mg/kg) to rats in the presence or absence of aspirin (5.0 and 20.0 mg/kg) (n=6, each).

| Parameter | Repaglinide (Control) | Repaglinide + Aspirin | |
|---|--------------------------|-----------------------|----------------|
| | | 5.0 mg/kg | 20.0 mg/kg |
| $AUC_{\theta \rightarrow \infty}$ (ng·h/ml) | 642.7 ± 115.7 | 691.1 ± 121.3 | 745.4 ± 139.7 |
| $t_{1/2}(h)$ | $2.6~\pm~0.5$ | $2.7~\pm~0.6$ | $2.8~\pm~0.7$ |
| CL_t (ml/min/kg) | 5.2 ± 1.3 | 4.8 ± 1.1 | $4.5~\pm~1.0$ |
| Vd _{ss} (ml/kg) | $13.0~\pm~2.4$ | $12.6~\pm~2.3$ | 12.4 ± 2.1 |

 $AUC_{0-\infty}$: area under the plasma concentration-time curve from 0 h to infinity; $t_{1/2}$: terminal half-life; CL_t : total body clearance; Vd_{ss} : volume of distribution at steady state.



Figure 9. HPLC chromatograms of the blank rat plasma (A), the plasma spiked with repaglinide (6.8 min), indomethacin (internal standard; 8.5 min) (B), and aspirin in the rat plasma (C).



Figure 10. A calibration curve of repaglinide was linear in the concentration range of 50– 5000 ng/ml in rat plasma. The typical equation describing the calibration curve in rat plasma was $y = 0.0031 \ x -0.0052$, where "y" is the peak area ratio of repaglinide to indomethacin and "x" is the concentration of repaglinide.



Figure 11. Inhibitory effects of ketoconazole and aspirin on CYP3A4 activity. The experiment was done in duplicate, and the result is expressed as the percent of inhibition.



Figure 12. Rhodamine-123 retention. MCF-7/ADR cells were preincubated with aspirin for 30 min after incubation of MCF-7/ADR cells with 20 μ M R-123 for 90 min. Data represents mean ± SD of 6 separate samples (significant versus the control MCF-7 cells, ** P < 0.01).



Figure 13. Mean blood glucose–time profiles in rats after oral (0.5 mg/kg) administration of repaglinide in the presence or absence of aspirin (5.0 and 20.0 mg/kg) (n=6, each). Bars represent the standard deviation; Oral administration of 0.5 mg/kg repaglinide (control) (solid circles •), with 5.0 mg/kg aspirin (open circles \circ) and with 20.0 mg/kg aspirin (solid triangles \mathbf{V}) (* P < 0.05).



Figure 14. Mean blood glucose-time profiles in rats after intravenous (0.2 mg/kg) administration of repaglinide in the presence or absence of aspirin (5.0 and 20.0 mg/kg) (n=6, each). Bars represent the standard deviation; Intravenous administration of 0.2 mg/kg repaglinide (control) (solid circles •), with 5.0 mg/kg aspirin (open circles \circ) and with 20.0 mg/kg aspirin (solid triangles $\mathbf{\nabla}$).



Figure 15. Mean plasma concentration–time profiles of repaglinide after oral (0.5 mg/kg) administration of repaglinide to rats in the presence or absence of aspirin (5.0 and 20.0 mg/kg) (n=6, each). Bars represent the standard deviation; Oral administration of 0.5 mg/kg repaglinide (control) (solid circles •), with 5.0 mg/kg aspirin (open circles \circ) and with 20.0 mg/kg aspirin (solid triangles \mathbf{V}) (* P < 0.05).



Figure 16. Mean plasma concentration-time profiles of repaglinide after intravenous (0.2 mg/kg) administration of repaglinide to rats in the presence or absence of aspirin (5.0 and 20.0 mg/kg) (n=6, each). Bars represent the standard deviation; Intravenous administration of 0.2 mg/kg repaglinide (control) (solid circles •), with 5.0 mg/kg aspirin (open circles \circ) and with 20.0 mg/kg aspirin (solid triangles $\mathbf{\nabla}$).

Abstract

Repaglinide and aspirin interact with the same cytochrome P450 (CYP)3A isoforms and clinically repaglinide and aspirin can be prescribed for prevention or treatment of diabetes and cardiovascular disease as complications of diabetes. The purpose of this study was to investigate the effects of aspirin, an antiplatalet agent, on the bioavailability and pharmacokinetics of repaglinide in rats.

The effects of aspirin on P-glycoprotein (P-gp) and CYP3A4 enzyme activity was evaluated. The pharmacokinetic parameters of repaglinide and blood glucose concentrations were also determined in rats after oral (0.5 mg/kg) and intravenous (0.2 mg/kg) administration of repaglinide to rats in the presence and absence of aspirin (5.0 and 20.0 mg/kg).

Aspirin inhibited CYP3A4 enzyme activity with IC₅₀ value of 15.0 μ M and the relative cellular uptake of rhodamine-123 was comparable. Compared to the oral control group, aspirin significantly increased the $AUC_{0-\infty}$ and the C_{max} of repaglinide by 36.6% and 18.8%, respectively. The CL/F was significantly decreased by aspirin. Aspirin also increased the absolute bioavailability (*A.B.*) of repaglinide by 36.9% compared to the oral control group. Moreover, the relative bioavailability (*R.B.*) of repaglinide was 1.13- to 1.37-fold greater than that of the control group. The blood glucose concentrations were significantly different compared to the oral control groups.

Aspirin enhanced the oral bioavailability of repaglinide, and this may be attributable to the inhibition of the CYP3A isoforms-mediated metabolism in the small intestine and/or liver and to reduction of total body clearance rather than to inhibition of P-gp in the small intestine and reduction of renal elimination of repaglinide by aspirin. The increase in the oral bioavailability of repaglinide should be taken into consideration of potential drug interactions when coadministering repaglinide and aspirin. Furthermore, the blood glucose concentrations should be carefully monitored during their coadministration.

Key words: Repaglinide · Pharmacokinetics · Pharmacodynamics · Aspirin · CYP3A isoforms · blood glucose · Rats

ABSTRACT

Effects of Efonidipine and Aspirin on the Pharmacokinetics and Pharmacodynamics of Repaglinide in Rats

Cheng Li

Advisor: Prof. Jun-Shik Choi, Ph.D. College of Pharmacy, Graduate School of Chosun University

Efonidipine is a novel dihydropyridine calcium antagonist and is a powerful vasodilator drug. Aspirin is a salicylate drug and recently aspirin has been recommended for primary prevention for diabetic patients at risk of recurrent cardiovascular risk. In clinically, repaglinide and efonidipine or aspirin can be prescribed for treatment of cardiovascular disease as complications of diabetes. On the other hand, repaglinide and efonidipine or aspirin interact with the same CYP3A isoforms and P-gp. Therefore, the present study aims to investigate the effect of efonidipine or aspirin on the pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of repaglinide after oral and intravenous administration in rats.

The pharmacokinetic parameters of repaglinide and blood glucose concentrations were determined after oral and intravenous administration of repaglinide (0.5 or 0.2 mg/kg) to rats in the presence and absence of efonidipine (1.0 and 3.0 mg/kg) or aspirin (5.0 and 20.0 mg/kg). The effects of efonidipine or aspirin on the CYP3A4 activity as well as P-gp activity were also evaluated. Efonidipine and aspirin significantly inhibited CYP3A4

enzyme. In addition, efonidipine significantly reduced rhodamine-123 efflux via P-gp in MCF-7/ADR cell overexpressing P-gp.

Compared to the control (repaglinide alone), efonidipine or aspirin significantly altered the pharmacokinetic parameters of repaglinide. The area under the plasma concentrationtime curve $(AUC_{0-\infty})$ and the peak plasma concentration (C_{max}) of repaglinide were significantly increased in the presence of efonidipine or aspirin, respectively. The total body clearance (CL/F) was significantly decreased by efonidipine or aspirin, respectively. Consequently, the absolute bioavailability (A.B.) of repaglinide in the presence of efonidipine or aspirin were significantly higher than that of the control group, respectively. Compared to the intravenous control, efonidipine significantly increased the plasma concentration-time curve $(AUC_{0-\infty})$ of intravenously administered repaglinide. However, pharmacokinetics parameters of intravenous repaglinide were not affected by aspirin. The blood glucose concentrations have significant differences in the presence and absence of efonidipine or aspirin compared to the oral control groups.

In conclusion, the enhanced oral bioavailability of repaglinide by efonidipine or aspirin may result from decreased P-gp-mediated efflux in small intestine and inhibition of CYP 3A isoforms-mediated metabolism in small intestine and/or in the liver and reduction of total body clearance of repaglinide.

Based on the results, if the drug interactions are confirmed in the diabetes patients with cardiovascular diseases, the dosage of repaglinid should be readjusted and blood glucose concentrations should be carefully monitored when repaglinide is used concomitantly with efonidipine or aspirin.

Key words: Repaglinide · Pharmacokinetics · Pharmacodynamics · Efonidipine · Aspirin ·

CYP3A isoforms · P-gp · Rats

Acknowledgements

First of all, I would like to express my sincere gratitude to my advisor, Dr. Jun-Shik Choi, for for his constant encouragement and guidance in the pharmacokinetics fields, and for his instructive advice and useful suggestions on my thesis. I am deeply grateful of his help in the completion of this thesis.

The Thesis Committee Members, examiners, Professor Suk-Jae Chung, Yong-Bok Lee, Hoo-Kyun Choi and Jin-Wook Yoo to whom I extend my sincere thanks, gave me the excellent comments, especially, I will pay high tribute to Professor Suk-Jae Chung to help me calculating the pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics data.

Special thanks should go to my laboratory collegues, Yong-Ji Piao, who help me to complete my experiment. Finally, I am indebted to my parents and my wife, Chunlan Piao, and my daughter, Suying Li, for their much continuous support and encouragement in my works. Thank you very much!